
 
 

Buffalo Grove Park District 
WORKSHOP AGENDA 

July 10, 2023 
Alcott Center, 530 Bernard Drive, Buffalo Grove 

Room 24 
6 pm 

 
As a courtesy to all in attendance at this meeting, please turn off your  

cell phones or put them on vibrate.  Thank you. 
 

I. Call to Order 
A. Roll Call 

 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 

III. Introduction of Guests 
IV. Approval of Workshop Agenda  

V. Topics from the Floor 
          VI.      Correspondence 
 
          VII.     Staff Recognition Resolution Presentation (SC) 

A. Resolution 23-7-1 Recognizing Tom Hoffman on 25 Years of Service  
B. Resolution 23-7-2 Recognizing Kyle Moody on 10 Years of Service 

  
VIII. Policy and Legislation (LR) 

A.  Village and Park District Route 83 Overpass Intergovernmental Agreement 
B.  Alcohol, Drugs and Narcotics Ordinance Update 

 C.   Fire Ordinance Update 
 D.   PDRMA Annual Report 

                    E.   FY 2023/24 Parks Department Quarters AB Goals and Objectives 
 
IX.    Parks (LR)  

A.  Willow Stream South Parking Lot Bid 
 
 
 



2 
 

          X.    Recreation (HW) 
A.  Clubhouse Field Trip Bus Bid 
B.  Recreation Program Enrollment Statistics     

 
          XI.   Executive Director’s Report 

       A.  Administrative Staff Meeting Report 
 

         XII.    President and Commissioners Reports 
 

         XIII.   Old Business 
A. Legislator Funds Promised From Springfield  
B. Board Candidate Packet and Application/Vacancy 
C. Happy Tails Dog Park Lines of Jurisdiction   

 
         XIV.   New Business 

 

         XV.    Executive Session for the Purpose of: 
        A.  Imminent Litigation 
        B.  Personnel 
        C.  Land Acquisition 
 

        XVI.   Action taken from Executive Session 
         XVII.  Adjournment 

 
 
“Enriching life and community through premier parks, programs and facilities.” 

 











 

 

 
 
 
 

 

RESOLUTION 23-7-1 
COMMENDING TOM HOFFMAN ON 25 YEARS OF SERVICE  

TO THE BUFFALO GROVE PARK DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, Tom Hoffman has been employed with the Buffalo Grove Park District since May 26, 
1998 as a Crew Chief and later named Parks Supervisor in 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, Tom has completed twenty-five years of service as of May 26, 2023 to the Park District 
and its residents; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Buffalo Grove Park District Board of Park Commissioners appreciates Tom’s dedicated 
service, which has allowed the District to grow during his career with us; and 

 

WHEREAS, Tom works in the turf management and beautification of over 200 acres of parks.  Tom 
accomplishes his duties with the assistance of both full-time and part-time seasonal staff members.  He 
has been instrumental in the care and maintenance of our key facilities including the Alcott Center, 
Mike Rylko Community Park, Willow Stream Pool and Park, the Community Arts Center, the Raupp 
Museum, and Happy Tails Dog Park; and  

 

WHEREAS, Tom has been a key staff member in providing training to summer staff on the proper use 
of equipment and safety procedures.  PDRMA has commented on numerous occasions how well 
summer staff are trained when they come out and complete site observations; and   

 

WHEREAS, the success of the Park District is dependent upon employees like Tom, who take pride 
in their individual and departmental accomplishments. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED by the President and Board of Park Commissioners of the 
Buffalo Grove Park District, Cook and Lake Counties, Illinois: 

 
1. That Tom Hoffman is commended on behalf of the citizens  

of Buffalo Grove for his distinguished service to the Park District.                            
2.       That this resolution be presented to Tom with best wishes in his career. 
 

    DATED AT BUFFALO GROVE PARK DISTRICT THIS 10th DAY OF JULY, 2023. 
                                                            
 
 

                                                              ______________________________                                              
                                                              Scott Jacobson, President  
                                                              Buffalo Grove Park District  
                                                              Park Board of Commissioners 



  

 
RESOLUTION 23-7-2 

COMMENDING KYLE MOODY ON 10 YEARS OF SERVICE  
TO THE BUFFALO GROVE PARK DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, Kyle Moody has been employed full-time with the Buffalo Grove Park District since May 20, 2013.  
Kyle was hired as a Facility Specialist and promoted to a Facilities Technician in 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, Kyle has completed 10 years of full-time service as of May 20, 2023 to the Buffalo Grove Park 
District and its residents. Kyle has grown tremendously since starting as a part-time employee in 2010; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Buffalo Grove Board of Commissioners and the residents of Buffalo Grove appreciate his 
dedicated service, which allowed the District to grow during his career with us; and  
 
WHEREAS, Kyle’s dedication and professional knowledge in numerous areas has been helpful to the District in 
maintaining District and Aquatics facilities.  Kyle has excelled in electrical work and has been responsible for 
running cable and setting up locations of all of the District security cameras.  Kyle’s personality fits in great with 
the District as he likes to have fun, but also gets work done in a timely manner; and  
 
WHEREAS, Kyle has been an major contributor to Park District projects including assisting with various LED 
projects, the renovation of the Golf Dome front lobby, the NWSRA renovation project at the Fitness Center, the 
Willow Stream Pool and Spray ‘N Play aquatics operations, the Emmerich office/lunchroom renovations, the 
replacement of the District parking lot light poles, and the dance room floor additions at the Community Arts 
Center; and  
 
WHEREAS, Kyle’s knowledge and skills have saved the Park District considerable amounts of time, money and 
resources in repairs and operational expenses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the success of the Park District is dependent upon employees like Kyle who have taken pride in the 
Buffalo Grove Park District and its accomplishments. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, LET IT BE RESOLVED by the President and Board of Park Commissioners of the Buffalo 
Grove Park District, Cook and Lake Counties, Illinois as follows: 
 

1. That Kyle is commended on behalf of the citizens of Buffalo Grove  
for his distinguished service to the Buffalo Grove Park District.  

2. That this Resolution is presented to Kyle with best wishes in his career. 
 
DATED, AT BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS THIS 10th DAY OF JULY 2023. 
   
          ___________________________ 
          Scott Jacobson, President  

Buffalo Grove Park District 
Board of Commissioners  

       



530 Bernard Drive ● Buffalo Grove, Illinois 60089 ● 847.850.2100 ● bgparks.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Memorandum 

 
 
 

MEMO TO: PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
FROM:  TIM HOWE, DIRECTOR OF PARKS AND PLANNING 
SUBJECT: IGA WITH THE VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE ON THE ROUTE 83 

OVERPASS BRIDGE  
DATE:  JUNE 28, 2023  
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Action Requested:  
 
Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement with the Village of Buffalo Grove in the amount 
of $75,000 for the Park District’s portion of the cost to paint the bridge over Route 83. 
 
 
History:  
 
Attached is the IGA with the Village of Buffalo Grove.  Last winter, the Village of Buffalo 
Grove went out to bid for the painting of the bridge over Route 83.  Era Valdivia, out of 
Chicago, IL, was the lowest bidder at $167,000.  We are responsible for a 50/50 split on 
the cost of maintenance on the bridge per our agreement with the Village dated January 25, 
1999.  Our portion would have been $83,500.  However, in having conversations with the 
Village, they were aware we only budgeted $50,000 and were willing to work with us.  
They asked us for an additional $25,000 and the remaining $8,500 will be handled by the 
Village.  The additional $25,000 will be absorbed through Capital.  
 
 
Enclosed: 
Intergovernmental Agreement – Pages 1-4 (Complete Village Document) 



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR PAINTING AND 

MAINTENANCE OF THE ROUTE 83 OVERPASS WITH THE BUFFALO 

GROVE PARK DISTRICT 

This Service Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into by and between the Buffalo 

Grove Park District (“Park District”), a body politic and corporate of the State of Illinois, and the Village 

of Buffalo Grove (“Village”), a body politic and corporate of the State of Illinois. Park District and 

Buffalo Grove are sometimes collectively referred to as the “Parties.”   

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the Route 83 (McHenry Road) pedestrian overpass, traverses over Route 83 (McHenry 

Road) approximately 900 feet northwest of the intersection of Route 83 (McHenry Road) and Buffalo 

Grove Road; and 

 

WHEREAS, the objective of this improvement will be to remove the protective painted coating 

over the steel bridge structure and replace it with modern materials which will provide corrosion 

and environmental protections to the structure; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Parties, by this instrument, desire to memorialize their respective for the cost obligations 

and responsibilities of the project. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, covenants, terms and conditions set forth in this 

Agreement, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.   INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 

 

The above recitals are incorporated into this Agreement as set forth herein. 

 

 

SECTION 2.   TERM AND TERMINATION 

 

This Agreement shall not become effective unless authorized and executed by the Park District President 

and the Buffalo Grove Village President. This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement, 

enforceable against the Parties. This Agreement shall continue until it is terminated by Agreement of the 

parties. 

 

 

SECTION 3.    RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 

3.1 Throughout the project the Buffalo Grove Park District and the Village of Buffalo Grove shall have 

the following obligations: 

 

a. The Village of Buffalo Grove will lead the procurement process.  A scope of services will be 

defined with associated costs being demonstrated through contract line items, serving as a basis 

for budget numbers for each Party.  These documents are attached as Attachments A. 

b. The Village of Buffalo Grove will award the Era Valdivia contract following a bid effort 

followed by successful negotiations to lower the overall costs.     



  2 
 

c. The Village of Buffalo Grove will pay Era Valdivia Contractors Inc. according to the terms 

and conditions of their contract.  The Village of Buffalo Grove will then invoice the Buffalo 

Grove Park District for their share.  The Park District will make payment to Buffalo Grove 

within ninety (90) days of receipt of the invoice. 

d. The final costs for the overall project will be determined by the billed and agreed to contract 

line-item quantities.   

e. The final split of the costs between the two parties will include the total payment of $75,000.00 

from the Park District and the remaining balance of the contract price to be paid by the Village 

of Buffalo Grove.      

f. The Village of Buffalo Grove will provide their agreed upon in house services to Era Valdivia 

for traffic control and fence removal.  The Village’s ability to perform these services were 

factored into the lowering of the Era Valdivia’s cost for the services required.  These services 

will not be included in item 3.1.d.   

 

  

SECTION 5.   GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

5.1 Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted under, and governed by, the laws 

of the State of Illinois, without regard to conflicts of laws principles.  Any claim, suit, action, or 

proceeding brought in connection with this Agreement shall be in the Circuit Court of Cook County 

and each Party hereby irrevocably consents to the personal and subject matter jurisdiction of such 

court and waives any claim that such court does not constitute a convenient and appropriate venue 

for such claims, suits, actions, or proceedings. 

 

5.2 Default. A Party shall be in default hereunder in the event of a material breach by such Party (the 

“Defaulting Party”) of any term or condition of this Agreement including, but not limited to, a 

representation or warranty, where the Defaulting Party has failed to cure such breach within thirty 

(30) days after written notice of breach is given by another Party (the “Non-Defaulting Party”), 

setting forth the nature of such breach.  Failure of a Non-Defaulting Party to give written notice of 

breach to the Defaulting Party shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the right of such Non-

Defaulting Party to assert such breach at a later time. Upon default the Non-Defaulting Party shall 

be entitled to exercise all available remedies at law and in equity. The Non-Defaulting Party shall 

be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs relating to litigation initiated by the Non-

Defaulting Party.   In the event of a default by either of the Parties, the County shall be notified in 

writing by the Non-Defaulting Party.  If the County assumes the maintenance obligation of the 

Defaulting Party for any period of time and incurs expenses in so doing, the County may charge 

the Defaulting Party for any such reasonable expense.  

 

5.3 Modification.  This Agreement may not be altered, modified or amended except by a written 

instrument signed by all Parties. Provided, however, the Parties agree that provisions required to 

be inserted in this Agreement by laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or executive orders are deemed 

inserted whether or not they appear in this Agreement and that in no event will the failure to insert 

such provisions prevent the enforcement of this Agreement. 

 

5.4 Force Majeure.  Neither the County, nor Buffalo Grove, nor Park District, shall be liable for failing 

to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement to the extent any such failure is caused by any event 

beyond such Party’s control and which event is not caused by such Party’s fault or negligence. 

Such events shall include but not be limited to acts of God, acts of war, fires, lightning, floods, 

epidemics or riots. 

 



  3 
 

5.5 Notices.  Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required under this Agreement 

must be given in writing at the addresses set forth below by any of the following means: personal 

service, overnight courier or first-class mail. 

 

TO PARK DISTRICT: 

 Park District President 

 Buffalo Grove Park District 

530 Bernard Drive 

 Buffalo Grove, IL 60089 

 

 

TO BUFFALO GROVE: 

 Village Manager 

 Village of Buffalo Grove 

 50 Raupp Blvd. 

Buffalo Grove, IL 60089 

 

 

5.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Village and Park 

District, and merges all discussion between them and supersedes and replaces any and every other  

prior or contemporaneous agreement, negotiation, understanding, commitment and writing with 

respect to such subject matter hereof. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective 

officials on the dates as shown. 

 

 

  

BUFFALO GROVE PARK DISTRICT:     

 

 

                                                                          

Scott Jacobson 

Park District President                                                                    

Buffalo Grove Park District 

 

 

This         day of                        A.D. 2023.        

 

ATTEST:                                                             

                   Clerk        

                 

      (SEAL)  

 

VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE:     

 

 

                                                                          

Eric N. Smith 

Village President                                                                      



  4 
 

Village of Buffalo Grove                                

 

 

This         day of                        A.D. 2023.        

 

ATTEST:                                                             

                  Village Clerk        

                 

      (SEAL)  



























































































































































































































































































































 

 

 

 
 

Memorandum 
 

TO:  PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
FROM:  ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
RE:  ORDINANCE UPDATE REQUEST (1.04 & 1.16) 
DATE:  JUNE 28, 2023 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Action Requested: 

Staff is requesting that the Board approve proposed updates to the Ordinances: 1.04 
Alcohol, Drugs and Narcotics and 1.16 Fires.  

  

Background Information: 

Ordinance 1.04 Alcohol, Drugs and Narcotics 

As discussed at the Board meeting in April, we noted the need to update this ordinance to 
reflect current practices.  In addition, we cleaned up the language. 

 

Ordinance 1.16 Fires 

Staff received an inquiry from a resident about having a bon fire in one of our parks.  In citing 
our ordinance in the response, staff noticed the need to update the language to make it 
clearer that fires (aside from the use of a grill) are prohibited.  In addition, there were typos 
that needed to be addressed. 
 
Enclosed: 

1.04 Alcohol, Drugs and Narcotics Ordinance: Current, Proposed, and Clean Copy 
1.16 Fires Ordinance: Current, Proposed, and Clean Copy 



CURRENT ORDINANCE: 

1.04 ALCOHOL, DRUGS AND NARCOTICS 

No person shall use or possess drugs or narcotics as defined in the Illinois Revised Statutes on Park 
District properties. 

No person shall bring within, sell or give away, or drink alcoholic beverages at any time in the park 
system, unless written permission by the Board of Commissioners has been granted (except in 
connection with Park District sponsored activities, programs, and/or events). Notice must be given, to 
the Board of Commissioners, at least thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled event, and then only if 
proper forms, accompanied with a Village of Buffalo Grove liquor license and proof of dram shop 
insurance coverage, are exhibited. At no time shall beer, wine or alcoholic liquor be served to anyone 
below the age of 21 years, and the service shall at all times be in compliance with the laws of the 
State of Illinois and the ordinance of the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois. 

No person shall be under the influence of intoxicating liquor, drugs or narcotics while in any park. 
 

PROPOSED CHANGES: 

1.04 ALCOHOL, DRUGS AND NARCOTICS 

No person shall use or possess illegal drugs or narcotics as defined in the Illinois Revised Statutes on 
Park District properties. 

No person shall bring within, sell, or give away, or drink alcoholic beverages at any time in the park 
system, unless written permission by the Board of Commissioners has been granted. (except in 
connection with Park District sponsored activities, programs, and/or events). Notice must be given, to 
the Board of Commissioners, at least thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled event, and then only if 
proper forms, accompanied with a Village of Buffalo Grove liquor license and proof of insurance 
including dram shop insurance coverage, are exhibited.  

The Park District, with applicable licensing, reserves the right to sell alcoholic beverages on Park 
District property during Park District sponsored activities, programs, and/or events.  

Renters at the Community Arts Center who wish to have alcoholic beverage consumption during their 
private rental may apply do so by completing the Park District’s alcohol rental request forms.  In 
addition, they will be required to obtain a Village of Buffalo Grove and/or State of Illinois liquor 
license and provide proof of insurance including dram shop coverage.  

At no time shall beer, wine or alcoholic liquor be served to anyone below the age of 21 years, and 
the service shall at all times be in compliance with the laws of the State of Illinois and the ordinance of 
the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois. 

No person shall be intoxicated on Park District property. under the influence of intoxicating liquor, 
drugs or narcotics while in any park. 
 

 



CLEAN COPY: 

1.04 ALCOHOL, DRUGS AND NARCOTICS 

No person shall use or possess illegal drugs or narcotics on Park District properties. 

No person shall bring within, sell, giveaway, or drink alcoholic beverages at any time in the park 
system, unless written permission by the Board of Commissioners has been granted. Notice must be 
given, to the Board of Commissioners, at least thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled event, and then 
only if proper forms, accompanied with a Village of Buffalo Grove liquor license and proof of 
insurance including dram shop coverage, are exhibited.  

The Park District, with applicable licensing, reserves the right to sell alcoholic beverages on Park 
District property during Park District sponsored activities, programs, and/or events.  

Renters at the Community Arts Center who wish to have alcoholic beverage consumption during their 
private rental may apply do so by completing the Park District’s alcohol rental request forms.  In 
addition, they will be required to obtain a Village of Buffalo Grove and/or State of Illinois liquor 
license and provide proof of insurance including dram shop coverage.  

At no time shall beer, wine or alcoholic liquor be served to anyone below the age of 21 years, and 
the service shall at all times be in compliance with the laws of the State of Illinois and the ordinance of 
the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois. 

No person shall be intoxicated on Park District property.  

 



CURRENT ORDINANCE: 

1.16 FIRES 
 
No person shall light or make use of any fire on Park District property, except such portions thereof as 
may be designated for such purpose, such as in a grill, and then only under such regulations as are 
prescribed by the Park District. No fire shall ever be left unattended. Every fire shall be under the 
continuous care and direction of a competent person 18 years of age or older from the time it is 
kindled until the time it is completely extinguished. All fires must be properly and completely 
extinguished prior to any person leaving the site of the fire. Noro person shall throw or otherwise 
discard lighted or smoldering material in any manner that threatens or causes damage to, or results in 
the burring of, District property or park resources, or creates a safety hazard. 
 
PROPOSED CHANGES: 

1.16 FIRES 
 
No person shall light or make use of any fire on Park District property, . except such portions thereof as 
may be designated for such purpose, such as in a grill, and then only under such regulations as are 
prescribed by the Park District. Bonfires or open flames of any kind are prohibited. The use of a grill is 
permitted in some designated areas, and then only under such regulations as are prescribed by the 
Park District. When use of a grill is permitted, the grill may never No fire shall ever be left unattended., 
and Every fire shall be under the continuous care and direction of a competent person 18 years of age 
or older from the time it is kindled until the time it is completely extinguished. Grill embers All fires must 
be properly and completely extinguished prior to any person leaving the grill site of the fire. Noro 
person shall throw away or otherwise discard lighted or smoldering material in any manner that 
threatens or causes damage to, or results in the burring of, District property or, park resources, or 
creates a safety hazard. 
 
CLEAN COPY: 

1.16 FIRES 
 
No person shall light or make use of any fire on Park District property.  Bonfires or open flame fires of 
any kind are prohibited.  The use of a grill is permitted in some designated areas, and then only under 
such regulations as are prescribed by the Park District.  When use of a grill is permitted, the grill may 
never be left unattended, and shall be under the continuous care and direction of a competent person 
18 years of age or older from the time it is kindled until the time it is completely extinguished.  Grill 
embers must be properly and completely extinguished prior to any person leaving the grill site.  No 
person shall throw away or otherwise discard lighted or smoldering material in any manner that 
threatens or causes damage to, or results in the burning of District property or park resources, or 
creates a safety hazard. 
 
 



530 Bernard Drive ● Buffalo Grove, Illinois 60089 ● 847.850.2100 ● bgparks.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Memorandum 
 
 

 
Memo To: Park Board of Commissioners 

Erika Strojinc, Executive Director  
From:  Dani Hoefle, Superintendent of Parks 
Subject: PDRMA Annual Report 
Date:  June 28, 2023  
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
Enclosed in the Board Packet is PDRMA’s 2022 Annual Report.  This document highlights a 
summary of PDRMA’s previous year’s updates and accomplishments.  It does not address any 
items specific to Buffalo Grove Park District.  
 
Also included is a summary of how the Buffalo Grove Park District utilized PDRMA’s resources 
last year. 



$172,194

$3,000
331

RISK 
MANAGEMENT EDUCATION 

AND TRAININGKnowing that reducing incidents 
requires both analyzing risks to 
provide the best coverage and each 
member managing its agency’s 
risks, we persevered through every 
challenge. In appreciation of your 
risk management efforts, we award-
ed your agency $3,000 in total cash 
incentives over the past two years.

Knowing how to recognize and 
resolve risks requires identifying 
them first. To help your employees 
do that, we offered webinars, 
eLearning and live classes as 
well as downloadable resources.  
59 of your agency’s employees 
participated in 331 PDRMA 
education and training offerings 
in the past two years.

training offerings

LEGAL 
SERVICES
Whether you needed help to 
manage changing employer 
requirements or adhering to 
regulatory guidelines, our 
in-house counsel was available 
to help you throughout 2022. 
Over the last two years, your 
employees made 19 calls to our 
HELPLine.

19
calls made

RATE STABILIZATION
PDRMA’s focus on long-term, financial 
stability allows you to manage risks and 
promote wellness while benefitting from 
stable rates. In 2021 and 2022, we 
lowered Property/Casualty members’ 
total contributions by $12.17 million 
dollars, combined, by using rate 
stabilization. Your agency received 
$172,194 of rate 
stabilization in 
the past 
two years.

2022 AT A GLANCE 
Buffalo Grove Park District

On the heels of a pandemic came rising inflation, hardening reinsurance markets and 
increased competition. But we were resilient, recovering quickly each time a challenge 
arose. We relied on our knowledge, leadership and collaboration to continue to partner 
with members to manage risk and promote wellness. 

59
employees 
participated



PDRMA.ORG



MISSION, VISION & VALUES 4

ABOUT PDRMA 7

RECOGNITION AND CERTIFICATION 8

LETTER TO MEMBERS 10

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 14

OPERATIONAL COMMITTEES 16

PDRMA MEMBERS  18

PROPERTY/CASUALTY PROGRAM 20

HEALTH PROGRAM 22

RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES 24

WELLNESS SERVICES 25

EDUCATION & TRAINING 26

LEGAL SERVICES 27

CLAIMS SERVICES 29

OPERATIONS DIVISION 30

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 33

PDRMA STAFF 36

TABLE OF 
CONTENTS



4 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

OUR MISSION & 

VISION
MISSION STATEMENT

PDRMA partners with members to manage risk 

and promote wellness.

CORE VALUES

INTEGRITY
Be honest.

Do what you say you are 
going to do.

Provide objective analysis  
of the issue.

Take responsibility for  
your actions.

Respond promptly.
Be professional in all 

interactions.
See issues through to 

resolution.

SERVICE
Do the right thing.

Communicate proactively.
Initiate solutions.

LEADERSHIP



5PDRMA.ORG

VISION STATEMENT

Safety and wellness integrated into our lives.

COLLABORATION
Respect all contributions.

Consider different 
perspectives.

Draw from others’ 
experiences.

Actively pursue 
improvement.

Embrace and explore 
new ideas.

INNOVATION
Clearly understand 
and strive to satisfy 

expectations. 
Use available expertise to 

find the best solution. 
Work efficiently and cost 

effectively. 

QUALITY



6 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

After nearly 40 years, 
we continue to be a 
respected leader in 
property/casualty and 
health coverage.



Property/Casualty Program 
(includes liability, property, 
workers’ compensation, cyber, 
pollution).

Health Program  
(includes medical, dental, 
vision, life, EAP).

7PDRMA.ORG

ABOUT 
PDRMA

The Park District Risk Management Agency (PDRMA) provides 
coverage tailored to the unique needs of more than 160 Illinois 
park districts, forest preserve and conservation districts and 
special recreation associations. After nearly 40 years, we 
continue to be a respected leader in property/casualty and 
health coverage.  

We partner with our members – in a risk-sharing pool governed 
by members – to promote wellness, manage risk, protect 
employees and patrons, and control costs by offering two 
coverage programs, each of which is a cost-effective alternative 
to commercial insurance:

Our employees, who are experts in the industry, provide 
members with the knowledge and sound recommendations 
they need to be confident they are implementing smart, fiscally 
responsible programs.  



8 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

In 2022, PDRMA received the Government 
Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 
Certificate of Excellence in Financial 
Reporting for its comprehensive annual 
financial report. It is the 33rd year we 
have received GFOA certification. To 
receive this recognition, PDRMA must 
publish an easy-to-read and efficiently 
organized comprehensive annual financial 
report. The report must satisfy both 
generally accepted accounting principles 
and applicable legal requirements. 

RECOGNITION AND 
CERTIFICATION

GFOA CERTIFICATE OF EXCELLENCE



9 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

LETTER TO 
MEMBERS

Re·sil·ience – Capacity to recover quickly from difficulties; toughness.  

For PDRMA, that’s the word that best 
defines 2022. It was a year that most 
certainly required resilience, so we could 
meet members’ changing needs and 
answer tough questions with equally 
tough answers to weather rising inflation, 
hardening reinsurance markets and 
increased competition. 

We were able to recover quickly each time a 
challenge arose, relying on our knowledge, 
leadership, collaboration and innovation 
while staying focused on our mission to 
partner with our members to manage risk 
and promote wellness.

Some highlights from 2022 are below, but 
we encourage you to read all of this year’s 
annual report to understand how each 
PDRMA division and department found the 
best way to bounce back, adapt and grow 
– to be resilient – in answer to every 2022 
challenge.

FINANCE DIVISION
Charged with maintaining, or exceeding, 
PDRMA’s net position for both the 
Property/Casualty and Health programs, 
our Finance Division coped with continued 
hardening insurance markets, rising 
inflation and market-wide negative 
investment returns, and ensured our 
members continued to experience the 
financial stability they expect from PDRMA. 
Resilience and toughness were what 
paved our financial road, securing these 
accomplishments.

• Maintained net position for Property/
Casualty and Health programs above 
established benchmarks. 

• Reduced Property/Casualty member 
contributions by $4.9 million through 
rate stabilization, which uses excess net 
position to maintain consistent rates.



10PDRMA.ORG

• Provided a 5-percent multi-program 
discount totaling $375K to PDRMA 
members on their 2022 Property/
Casualty contributions for participating 
in both the Property/Casualty and 
Health programs.

HEALTH DIVISION
Faced with competition and rising 
healthcare costs, our Health Division 
focused on providing members with the 
coverage and plan options they needed, 
while ensuring those offerings complied 
with the latest legislation. We continued to 
update our PATH wellness program and, 
for the first time ever, extended the annual 
incentive to include covered partners. In 
a constantly – and rapidly – changing 
environment, resilience is a requirement.

• Returned $1,012,535 of net position 
to members in October 2022, which 
is an amount equal to approximately 
3 percent of each member’s 2022 
contributions. 

• Managed the implementation of Blue 
Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois as 
our 2022 PPO plan administrator and 
network as well as our vision plan 
administrator.  

• Added High Deductible Health Plans 
with Health Savings Account options for 
the first time. 

• Extended the annual $400 PATH 
incentive to covered partners for 
the first time and experienced a 
22-percent increase in covered partner 
participation. 

• Developed a rate structure and process 
to allow Health members to purchase 
PATH access for part-time staff and 
Property/Casualty-only members to 
purchase PATH access for employees. 

• Implemented Virgin Pulse’s Transform 
for Prediabetes program to prevent the 
onset of Type 2 diabetes and support 
our commitment to prevention. 

LEGAL SERVICES DIVISION
Managing risks means being prepared for 
potential legal ramifications. Our Legal 
Services Division helped members remain 
resilient in preventing – and dealing – with 
a variety of issues.

• Conducted more than a dozen member 
site visits proactively with PDRMA’s 
Risk Management Services Department 
staff.  

• Expanded services for certain wage and 
hour, contract, and FOIA/OMA matters. 

• Engaged in on-site incident response 
after serious injuries and aquatic 
rescues to investigate, prepare defenses 
and support members. 



11 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

OPERATIONS DIVISION
Supporting internal clients while assisting 
members and ensuring business continuity 
requires resilience – as well as juggling 
skills. From issuing certificates of insurance 
and communicating with members to 
providing training resources, maintaining 
PDRMA’s cybersecurity and increasing 

website accessibility, our Operations 
Division remained committed to serving 
PDRMA members. 

• A cyber security company evaluated our 
website and network security systems 
and reaffirmed they continue to be 
adequately secured to prohibit intrusion, 
and our monitoring systems are 
properly configured to detect suspicious 
activity.

• 3,540 member employees created new 
website user accounts, up 753 over 
2021, totaling 12,917 active accounts at 
the end of 2022.

• Issued 2,515 additional insured 
certificates of coverage on behalf of 
members.

• Public website pages were visited 
10,030 times.

PROPERTY/CASUALTY DIVISION
The combination of hardening insurance 
markets, increasing inflation and the rise 
in natural disasters and threat actors 
last year provided endless opportunities 
to be resilient. Through our Property/
Casualty Program, we subsidized members 
to improve their agency’s cybersecurity, 
funded lifeguard audits and vision 
screenings, provided vendor reviews of 
construction/renovation plans and tested 
for coefficient of friction – helping them 
with collaboration, innovation and these 
savings:

• Offered a $1,250 Multi-Factor 
Authentication (MFA) subsidy to help 
members improve agency cybersecurity 
and reduce the risk of cyber-attacks. 
Ninety-four members verified their 
MFA compliance and qualified for 
reimbursement.



12PDRMA.ORG

• Implemented the Risk Management 
Review (RMR) with 156 members that 
completed 138 Injury Prevention and 
18 Fleet forms as well as conducting 
348 on-site and 51 virtual visits – and 
paying members a total of $238,500 in 
RMR incentives.

• 31 members received a total of $12,500 
for ladder alternative reimbursements.

• Awarded a total of $15,000 in Risk 
Management Grants to 15 members.  

• Through third-party vendors, our Claims 
Department reduced overall workers’ 
compensation costs by $155,950 for bill 
review, $21,000 for prescription service 
and $46,000 for scheduling MRIs.

One factor in highly resilient people – 
and businesses – is they do not dwell 
on the negative. Neither did PDRMA 
in 2022. Instead, we strove to find the 
positive within the negative, relying 
on our partnership with members, the 
leadership of our Board of Directors and 
the knowledge and innovation of PDRMA’s 
divisions, departments and employees to 
define our resilience and shape our success.

Jim Rogers      
Chair, PDRMA Board of Directors   
Executive Director 
Elmhurst Park District

Brett Davis 
Chief Executive Officer 
PDRMA



13 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2022 BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

LEADERSHIP
As a member-governed organization, we rely on 
participation from our more than 160 members to create 
the resiliency we needed to weather a year like 2022. 
From our Board of Directors to the representatives 
serving on our six Operational Committees, we partnered 
together to ensure we remained the competitive, 
financially stable risk pool each member needs PDRMA 
to be, so they can be successful.    

Jim Rogers
Chair

Elmhurst Park District

Dan Garvy
Vice-Chair

Lisle Park District



14PDRMA.ORG

Marla DeCicco
Vernon Hills Park District 

Retired/resigned effective Feb. 17, 2022

Craig Culp
Northern Suburban 
Special Recreation 

Association

Sue Rini
Carol Stream Park District

Appointed April 22, 2022

Debbie Kopas
Homewood-Flossmoor 

Park District

Craig Talsma
Hoffman Estates Park District

Amy Rivas
Wheeling Park District



15 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2022 OPERATIONAL COMMITTEES

CLAIMS
Katie Sepe, Chair 
Naperville 
Julie Bruns 
Elmhurst
Hollis Clark 
Calumet Memorial
Jeff Janda 
Streamwood

Michael Kies 
St. Charles
Johnathan Kiwala 
Kenilworth
Nicolette Lahman-Morales 
SWSRA
Amy McIntyre 
Rockford

Darlene Negrillo 
NWSRA             
Bill Riordan 
Lockport Township
Mike Sletten 
River Forest
Debbie Kopas 
Board Liaison

EDUCATION & TRAINING
Caryn Becker, Chair 
Homewood-Flossmoor
Paula Bickel 
Oak Park              
Liz Cox 
Wilmette
Meggan Davies 
NSSRA

Mark Goode 
Bloomingdale, Medinah, 
Highland Park
Jenny Knitter 
Woodridge
Chuck Misner 
Kane County Forest 
Preserve District

Kara Moss 
Glenview  
Rick Poole 
NEDSRA
Katie Sepe 
Naperville 
Craig Culp 
Board Liaison

FINANCE
Sue Stanish, Chair 
Naperville
Mitch Bowlin 
Oak Park
Holly Cabel 
St. Charles
Carlo Capalbo 
Plainfield Township

Bobby Collins 
Glencoe
Annette Curtis 
Des Plaines
Alex Engelhardt 
FVSRA
Paul Friedrichs 
Lombard

Jeannette Huber 
Alsip
Matt Russian 
Pleasant Dale
Sue Rini 
Board Liaison



16PDRMA.ORG

2022 OPERATIONAL COMMITTEES

HEALTH BENEFITS
Susie Kuruvilla, Chair 
Gurnee
Eric Bradley 
Zion
Matt Corso 
SEASPAR
Tom Leeson 
Tinley Park

Maryfran Leno 
Itasca
Kathy Lynch 
New Lenox
Alison Reicher 
Rolling Meadows
Karrie Ross 
Peoria

Jennifer Ruehrdanz 
Round Lake Area
Mike Selep 
NWCSRA 
Linda Straka 
Warrenville 
Amy Rivas 
Board Liaison

RISK MANAGEMENT
Tanya Brady, Chair 
Waukegan
Tim Beckmann 
Glenview
Kelly Brunning 
M-NASR
Matt Ellmann 
Wood Dale

Jackie Iovinelli 
Forest Park
Mary Kann 
Lake County Forest 
Preserve District
Jay Kelly 
Manhattan
Jason Posluszny 
FVSRA

Chris Quinn 
Carol Stream
Kris Scharp 
Northbrook
Amanda Widloe 
Woodridge
Dan Garvy 
Board Liaison

WELLNESS
Jen Hermonson, Chair 
Addison
Ben Appler 
Wood Dale
Conor Cahill 
Rolling Meadows
Connie Curry 
Woodridge

Lisa Drzewiecki 
SSSRA
Bret Fahnstrom 
River Trails
David Gray 
Peoria
Scott Nadeau 
Sugar Grove

Keith Wallace 
LWSRA
Robert Wood 
Vernon Hills
Craig Talsma 
Board Liaison



17 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2022 PDRMA MEMBERS
Addison Park District
Alsip Park District
Arlington Heights Park 

District
Barrington Park District
Bartlett Park District* 
Batavia Park District* 
Bedford Park District
Belvidere Park District
Bensenville Park District
Berwyn Park District
Bloomingdale Park District
Blue Island Park District
Bolingbrook Park District
Bourbonnais Township Park 

District
Buffalo Grove Park District
Burbank Park District
Burr Ridge Park District
Butterfield Park District
Byron Forest Preserve 

District
Byron Park District
Calumet Memorial Park 

District
Carol Stream Park District
Cary Park District
Champaign County Forest 

Preserve District
Champaign Park District
Champaign-Urbana Special 

Recreation
Channahon Park District
Chicago Ridge Park District
Clarendon Hills Park District
Clark County Park District
Community Park District of 

LaGrange Park

Crete Park District
Crystal Lake Park District
Darien Park District
Decatur Park District
Deerfield Park District
DeKalb County Forest 

Preserve District
DeKalb Park District
Des Plaines Park District*
Downers Grove Park District
Dundee Township Park 

District*
Elk Grove Park District*
Elmhurst Park District*
Flagg-Rochelle Community 

Park District
Forest Preserve District of 

Kane County
Forest Preserve District of 

Will County
Fox Valley Park District
Fox Valley Special 

Recreation Association
Frankfort Park District
Frankfort Square Park 

District
Geneseo Park District
Geneva Park District
Genoa Township Park 

District
Glen Ellyn Park District
Glencoe Park District*
Glenview Park District
Golf Maine Park District
Grayslake Community Park 

District
Gurnee Park District

Hampshire Township Park 
District

Hanover Park Park District*
Hazel Crest Park District
Heart of Illinois Special 

Recreation Association
Hickory Hills Park District
Hodgkins Park District
Hoffman Estates Park 

District*
Homewood-Flossmoor 

Park District*
Huntley Park District
Illinois Park and Recreation 

Association
Itasca Park District
Justice Park District
Kankakee Valley Park 

District
Kenilworth Park District
Kishwaukee Special 

Recreation Association
Lake Bluff Park District
Lake County Forest 

Preserve District
Lan-Oak Park District
Lemont Park District
Lincolnway Special 

Recreation Association
Lindenhurst Park District
Lisle Park District
Lockport Township Park 

District
Lombard Park District*
Maine-Niles Association of 

Special Recreation
Manhattan Park District
Marengo Park District



18PDRMA.ORG

2022 PDRMA MEMBERS
McCook Park District
McHenry County 

Conservation District
Medinah Park District
Midlothian Park District
Mokena Community Park 

District
Morton Grove Park District*
Mundelein Park & 

Recreation District
Naperville Park District
New Lenox Community Park 

District
Norridge Park District
North Berwyn Park District
Northbrook Park District*
Northeast DuPage Special 

Recreation Association
Northern Illinois Special 

Recreation Association
Northern Suburban Special 

Recreation Association
Northern Will County 

Special Recreation
Northfield Park District*
Northwest Special 

Recreation Association
Oak Brook Park District
Oak Forest Park District
Oak Lawn Park District
Oakbrook Terrace Park 

District
Olympia Fields Park District
Park District of Forest Park*
Park District of Franklin 

Park
Park District of Highland 

Park*

Park District of La Grange
Park District of Oak Park
Park Ridge Park District*
Paxton Park District
Plainfield Township Park 

District
Pleasant Dale Park District
Pleasure Driveway and Park 

District of Peoria
Prophetstown Park District
Prospect Heights Park 

District
River Forest Park District
River Trails Park District
River Valley Special 

Recreation Association
Rockford Park District*
Rolling Meadows Park 

District
Roselle Park District
Round Lake Area Park 

District
Skokie Park District*
South East Association 

for Special Parks And 
Recreation

South Suburban Special 
Recreation Association

South West Special 
Recreation Association

Special Recreation 
Association of Central 
Lake County

Special Recreation Services 
of Northern Lake County

St. Charles Park District
Sterling Park District
Streamwood Park District*

Sugar Grove Park District
Sycamore Park District
Tinley Park - Park District
Vernon Hills Park District
Warren Special Recreation 

Association
Warrenville Park District
Washington Park District
Wauconda Park District
Waukegan Park District
West Chicago Park District
West Suburban Special 

Recreation Association
Western DuPage Special 

Recreation Association
Western Springs Park 

District
Wheaton Park District*
Wheeling Park District*
Wildwood Park District
Wilmette Park District
Wilmington Park District
Winfield Park District
Winnetka Park District
Wood Dale Park District
Woodridge Park District
Worth Park District
York Center Park District
Zion Park District

(* Denotes founding members)



19 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Despite being challenged to find the positive within the negative 
throughout 2022, we ensured the coverage we offered members 
addressed both the changing market and their needs. And we did so 
with the most cost-effective options available. Along the way we also 
managed to:

• Respond to tightening renewal requirements for cyber liability 
coverage by offering a $1,250 Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) 
subsidy to help members improve agency cybersecurity and reduce 
the risk of cyber attacks. Ninety-four members verified their MFA 
compliance and qualified for reimbursement.

• Participate in a group with Government Entities Mutual (PDRMA’s 
reinsurance captive) members to explore creative solutions to 
manage cyber liability risk. 

COVERAGE OVERVIEW

PROPERTY/CASUALTY 
DIVISION



20PDRMA.ORG

PROPERTY/CASUALTY PROGRAM COVERAGES
LIABILITY

• $21.5 million per occurrence limit.
• Includes general liability, auto 

liability, personal injury, advertising 
injury, public officials’ errors and 
omissions, employment practices, 
employee benefits and sexual 
misconduct.

PROPERTY
• $1 billion per occurrence limit.
• Coverage includes buildings, 

watercraft, athletic fields, contents, 
animals, fine arts, vehicles, tees 
and greens, business interruption, 
mobile equipment, landscaping, 
service interruption, course of 
construction and terrorism.

• $50 million flood zone A&V, $100 
million all other zones. 

• $100 million per occurrence boiler/
machinery limit.

• $2 million per occurrence fidelity 
and crime limit.

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
• Statutory limits. 
• $6 million employer’s liability limits.

POLLUTION LIABILITY
• Liability coverage for bodily injury 

and property damage.
• Property coverage for remediation 

costs.
• $5 million per occurrence limit.

INFORMATION SECURITY  
AND PRIVACY

• Includes cyber liability, privacy 
notification costs, data protection 
and business interruption.

OUTBREAK EXPENSE
• Up to $25,000 per day coverage 

for facility closure by a public 
health official due to contagion or 
communicable disease.

DEADLY WEAPON RESPONSE
• $500,000 per occurrence limit.
• Includes crisis management, 

counseling services, funeral 
expenses, property damage, 
business interruption, demolition, 
memorialization, medical 
expense, accidental death and 
dismemberment.

VOLUNTEER MEDICAL ACCIDENT
• For injuries sustained from 

volunteer duties.
• $5,000 limit, excess of all other 

available insurance.

UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS 
• Deductible reimbursement for 

underground storage tanks that 
qualify for the Illinois Leaking 
Underground Storage Tank program.

• $10,000 limit.



21 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

The healthcare market is a constantly – and rapidly – changing environment, 
complicated by the introduction of new legislation nearly every year. Add in rising 
inflation, and 2022 saw both competition and rising costs, making it difficult 
to focus on the positives. But our Health Program was as resilient as ever and 
provided members with the coverage and plan options they wanted, while ensuring 
they complied with the latest legislation, and we made them available at the best 
possible price. We also managed to:

• Return $1,012,535 of net position to 
members in October 2022, which is 
an amount equal to approximately 
3 percent of each member’s 2022 
contributions. 

• Implement BlueCross and BlueShield 
of Illinois (BCBSIL) as our 2022 
PPO plan administrator, vision plan 
administrator and network. 

• Add High Deductible Health Plan 
(HDHP) with Health Savings Account 
(HSA) options for the first time.  

• Complete our first full year with 
PlanSource’s benefit enrollment 
platform across our entire 
membership. 

• Introduce digital posting of monthly 
health invoices and billing details, 
so members could download them 
from our website rather than wait to 
receive them in the mail.

• Address changing over-the-counter, 
at-home COVID-19 test kit legislation 
and update members and plan 
participants frequently about status 
throughout the pandemic. 

• Restructure the Health Program 
Coordinator position to support 
both Wellness and Health Program 
operations, and fully staffed our 
Health Team in 2022.  

• Ensure our plans and coverage 
complied with recent legislation (No 
Surprises Act, Transparency Act, 
Consolidated Appropriations Act 
Prescription reporting). 

• Select Davis Vision as our new 
vision plan partner for 2023 and will 
introduce managed vision plans for 
the first time in 2023. 

• Remove three annual dollar 
maximum benefit limits – 
acupuncture/chiropractic 
services, nutritional counseling, 
temporomandibular joint disorder.

HEALTH DIVISION



22PDRMA.ORG

MEDICAL
• Choice of PPO plans – with seven 

different deductible options – four 
of which can pair with Health 
Reimbursement Account options 
and one Health Savings Account 
option. All plans use BCBSIL 
provider network.

• HMO option also through BCBSIL.
• Prescription coverage managed 

by CVS Caremark (PPO) and Prime 
Therapeutics (HMO).

DENTAL
• Uses Delta Dental PPO and 

Premier provider networks.
• Optional orthodontia benefit.

VISION
• Three vision reimbursement 

benefit plan options 
administered by BCBSIL.

HEARING
• Participants enrolled in a medical 

plan have an allowance of $2,500 
per ear once every five years 
including coverage for routine 
hearing exams and hearing aids.

LIFE
• Multiple life insurance options 

including flat amount or multiple 
of salary. Voluntary life coverage 
options for employees, spouses 
and children.

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM
• Provides confidential counseling and resources for Work-Life concerns and 

Legal-Financial issues, administered by Workplace Solutions.

HEALTH PROGRAM COVERAGES



23 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES

Between the full rollout of the Risk Management Review (RMR) to all Property/
Casualty members and various tests and inspections always available to agencies, 
our Risk Management Services Department relied on resilience to move smoothly 
from one project to the next throughout the year to meet members’ needs. By the 
end of 2022, the department’s accomplishments included:

• Implementation of the RMR with 
members completing 138 Injury 
Prevention and 18 Fleet forms and 
our Risk Management Consultants 
participating in a total of 348 on-site 
and 51 virtual member visits.

• Reimbursing members $219,941 for 
258 lifeguard audits. 

• Fully funding our lifeguard vision 
screening program at a cost of 
$18,200; 77 of 88 members using 
lifeguards participated.

• Offering Kodiak Fire Protection 
Service plan reviews with six project 
plans from five members reviewed at 
no additional cost to members.

• Conducting 61 infrared inspections of 
facilities for 14 different members.

• Completing ice rink inspections for 
three members.

• Having co-efficient of friction testing 
done at 24 facilities for 17 members. 

• Paying $12,500 in ladder-alternative 
reimbursements to 31 members.

• Returning $237,000 to members 
through the RMR incentive.

• Spending $8,225 to assess member-
specific OSHA compliance.

• Reimbursing a total of $21,000 to 
members for Be Safe Solutions and 
safety resources/giveaways. 

• Awarding a total of $15,000 to 
15 members receiving a Risk 
Management Grant and Recognition 
Award.  



24PDRMA.ORG

WELLNESS 
SERVICES
Our Wellness Department remained 
committed to helping members 
integrate wellness into their 
employees’ lives throughout 2022. 
From hosting full, on-site biometric 
screenings for the first time in three 
years due to COVID-19, extending 
the annual PATH $400 incentive to 
covered partners for the very first 
time and developing a rate structure 
to allow Health members to purchase 
PATH access for part-time employees 
and Property/Casualty-only members 
to purchase PATH access for staff, the 
department remained resilient. These 
end-of-year numbers highlight some 
of the results of those efforts.

• 1,446 – Total number of eligible 
employees enrolled in PATH (64 percent).

• 1,299 – Total number of eligible 
employees that earned an incentive (57 
percent).

• 198 – Total number of covered partners 
enrolled in PATH (25 percent).

• 182 – Total number of covered partners 
that earned an incentive (23 percent).

• 1,481 – Total number of participants 
earning an incentive.

• $230 – Average incentive earned by 
PATH participants.

• 89 percent – Surveyed participants that 
said PATH is a valuable benefit provided 
by their agency.

• 85 percent – Surveyed participants 
that said their participation in PATH has 
helped to maintain or create healthier 
habits.

 � 910 – biometric screening participants.
 � 870 via on-site screenings.
 � 40 via off-site screenings.

• 60 percent – Percentage of incentive-
eligible employees enrolled in a medical 
plan that earned an incentive.

• 572 – Total number of PATH participants 
that earned the maximum $400 annual 
incentive.

• 2,931 – Total number of personal health 
habit and activity challenges participants 
created to stay on track.

• 72 percent – Number of high-risk, 
inactive participants who are more active 
since joining PATH.

• 72 percent – PATH participants who 
completed a point-earning activity on a 
monthly basis.



648  
attendees at our Risk 

Management Institute that 
included one keynote address and 

four breakout sessions. 

49  
webinars/virtual trainings hosted 
and recorded for member access. 

14,671  
online courses completed by 

5,518 unique users.

 693.65 
CEUs earned through in-person 

classroom training.

201 
CEUs earned through virtual 

trainings.

1,226.5 
CEUs earned through online 

learning courses.

25 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Versatility and resilience were standard characteristics of our Education and Training 
Department last year. If the need was for live classes, we offered them. If an online 
course or webinar session was a better answer and/or safety required it, we had that 
covered as well. With more member-specific information available through our database 
of completed 2022 Risk Management Review forms, along with data gleaned from 
training surveys, the department provided 78 face-to-face classes to 1,187 participants 
last year and can also report the following: 

EDUCATION & 
TRAINING



26PDRMA.ORG

LEGAL 
SERVICES

Our Legal Services Division displayed 
the toughness that defines resilience 
in its dealings on behalf of, and for, 
each PDRMA member. Its partnership 
with members – demonstrated by 
answering human resources questions 
via our HELPLine, updating resources 
to reflect legislative changes and being 
part of our on-site incident response 
team – went a long way in assuring 
members we could help them recover 
quickly from difficulties they faced.   

• Addressed 846 HELPLine human 
resources calls. 

• Published an updated personnel policy 
manual.

• Expanded bench of outside defense 
counsel to include several new firms 
including one specializing in police liability.

• Conducted more than a dozen member-
site visits proactively with PDRMA’s Risk 
Management Services Department staff.  

• Expanded services for certain wage and 
hour, contract and FOIA/OMA matters. 

• Engaged in on-site incident response 
after serious injuries/aquatic rescues 
to investigate, prepare defenses and 
support members. 



27PDRMA.ORG

CLAIMS 
SERVICES

After any accident or incident, our 
members want to recover quickly and 
get back to business as usual. Our Claims 
Services Department plays an integral 
part in making that happen, and in 2022, 
it exhibited the resilience members 
depend upon to handle claims effectively 
and efficiently, even as claim volumes 
rose to near preCOVID-19 levels. As 
members resumed many more programs 
in 2022 than in the preceding two years, 
the department did its part to provide 
members with the resilience they needed.

• Partnered with vendors 
to reduce overall 
workers’ compensation 
costs, saving $155,950 
through bill review, 
$21,000 in prescription 
service and $46,000 in 
MRI scheduling.

• Handled 858 new 
workers’ comp 
claims for members’ 
employees – anticipate 
paying $4.5 million for 
these claims.

• Managed 498 new 
claims for member-
owned property – 
expecting to pay $3.5 
million to members.

9% 
Vehicle

40% 
Liability

15% 
Property

36% 
Workers’ 

Comp



28 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

OPERATIONS  
DIVISION

Our Operations Division supports all PDRMA’s departments and divisions as 
well as our members. Juggling such a variety of needs requires resilience – and 
a commitment to deliver. Among the services provided by the division and its 
departments in 2022 are: 

Administration
• 2,515 Additional Insured Certificates of Coverage issued on behalf of members.

Communications
• PDRMA’s online 2021 Annual Report won gold in the League of American 

Communications Professionals International Vision Awards Competition. 
• Sent more than 241,000 emails to more than 15,000 member employees 

including 214 LRN Alerts and general information topics.

Information Technology
• Evaluation by a cyber security company reaffirmed our website and network 

security systems continue to be adequately secured to prohibit intrusion, and 
our monitoring systems are properly configured to detect suspicious activity.



29PDRMA.ORG

Marketing
• More than 10,000 visits to our public website pages.
• Social media (Facebook and Instagram combined):

• 341 posts – 66 percent more than in 2021.
• 120 new followers added for a total of 670.
• 10,000-increase in impressions, up to more than 46,000.

Website
• 3,540 member employees created new website user accounts, up 753 over 

2021, for a total of 12,917 active accounts.
• 7,919 unique website users logged in, and the website had more than 109,000 

total logins.
• 3,387 website users accessed 5,597 different documents/videos more than 

84,000 times.
• 174 additions/improvements made to public and private websites, including 

16 changes based on user feedback.
• Passed PCI compliance for credit card transaction security for the 11th 

straight year.



30 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Charged with maintaining, or exceeding, PDRMA’s net position benchmarks for 
both the Property/Casualty and Health programs, our Finance Division coped 
with continued hardening reinsurance markets, rising inflation and market-wide 
negative investment returns to ensure our members continued to experience the 
financial stability they expect from PDRMA. Resilience and toughness were what 
paved PDRMA’s financial road last year, securing these 2022 accomplishments.

FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT
• Maintained net position for both 

programs above established 
benchmarks. 

• Maintained net position for both 
programs above capital modeling 
measurements established by 
Willis Towers Watson to ensure 
future financial stability.

• Reduced P/C member 
contributions in 2022 by $4.9 
million through rate stabilization, 
which uses excess net position to 
maintain consistent rates. 

• Paid a multi-program discount 
of $375K to P/C members also 
in the Health Program on their 
2022 P/C contributions.

• Used more than $51.3 million 
since 2002 to stabilize Property/
Casualty member contributions. 

• Net assets (Property/Casualty 
and Health programs) totaled 
$64.8 million (preliminary) at the 
end of 2022.

FINANCIAL REPORT



31PDRMA.ORG

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Preliminary Unaudited

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION DEC. 31, 2022 DEC. 31, 2021
Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Cash and investments  $72,239,213 $89,575,032 
Investment in mutual insurance company  1,000,000  1,000,000 
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation  3,249,817  3,303,382 
Accounts receivable  9,136,214  8,281,931 
Due from insurers  2,041,343  331,463 
Net Pension Asset  3,766,631  1,591,892 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  3,368,305  3,172,435 

Total assets  94,801,523  107,256,135 

Deferred Outflows of Resources – Pension  1,124,866  1,245,470 
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources  $95,926,389  $108,501,605 

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses  22,305,446  21,073,716 
Unallocated loss adjustment expenses  447,974  413,558 
Accounts payable  5,013,334  2,269,556 
Accrued liabilities  221,242  211,423 

Total liabilities  27,987,996  23,968,253 

Deferred Inflows of Resources – Pension  3,176,861  2,095,308 

Net position  64,761,532  82,438,044 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position  $95,926,389  $108,501,605 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Revenues

Member contributions, net  $50,936,592  $49,562,945 
Investment and other income  1,576,034  1,695,934 
Realized and unrealized (losses) gains on investments  (11,001,904)  1,997,752 

Total revenues  $41,510,722  $53,256,631 

Expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses  $42,430,632  $36,469,479 
Insurance premiums  8,947,739  7,610,789 
Contractual services  2,343,721  2,470,810 
Administration  4,452,607  4,342,805 
Distribution to members  1,012,535  1,000,000 

Total expenses  $59,187,234  $51,893,883 

(Decrease) Increase in net position  $(17,676,512)  $1,362,748 

Net position, beginning of year  82,438,044  81,075,296 

Net position, end of year  $64,761,532  $82,438,044 



32 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

P/C $23,554,952  
Health $35,632,282  

Total $59,187,234  

P/C $ 20,949,149  
Health $7,038,847  
Total $27,987,996 

Total 
Expenses

Total 
Liabilities

Total 
Revenues

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



33PDRMA.ORG

P/C $10,644,001  
Health $30,866,721  

Total $41,510,722

P/C $66,570,393  
Health $28,231,130 
Total $94,801,523

P/C $44,184,847 
Health $20,576,685 
Total $64,761,532 

Total 
Revenues

Total 
Assets

Total Net 
Position



34 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

PDRMA STAFF
Brett Davis, MBA, 
CPCU, ARM, AIC, ARe, 
ALCM, GBA
Chief Executive Officer

Jason Bell, MBA
Director of Operations

Lisa Benjamin
Claims Specialist

Lauren Blackburn, 
CHES
Wellness Consultant

Tim Conlon
Property/Casualty Program 
Director

Laura Ganschow, ARM
Health Program Director

Melissa Bruno
Health Program 
Coordinator

Betty Dawson, AIC
Claims Consultant

Bob Tincu, CPA
Director of Finance

Sara Yager, J.D.
General Counsel



35PDRMA.ORG

PDRMA STAFF
Dustin Fisher, J.D. 
Deputy General Counsel

Andrew Fiske, J.D.
Deputy General Counsel

Tim Jaskiewicz, ARM, 
CEAS-1, CPO, CPRP, 
CPSI
Risk Management 
Consultant

Erika Koty, AIC
Claims Consultant

Marlynn Gonzalez
Health Program 
Coordinator

Eric Hohenstein
Claims Supervisor

Mike Kowols
Web Developer

Tim Lenac, ARM-P, AINS, 
CPO, CPSI, CEAS-1 
Risk Management Services 
Supervisor

Bill Hooker, MS, ARM, 
CEAS-1
Training Program 
Supervisor

Ashley Hurd
Legal/Executive 
Administrative Assistant



36 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

PDRMA STAFF
Elaine Lin
Accounting Specialist

Patty Maher, CPTD
Training and Development 
Supervisor

Sophie Ottley
Property/Casualty 
Operations Coordinator

Mary Pedersen, CEAS-1, 
CPSI, CPO
Risk Management Consultant

Johanna McFadden
Accounting Supervisor

Jessica Merma-
Moreno
Health Program 
Coordinator

Bill Pitts, MCP
Systems Developer

Nicole Ranieri
Claims Consultant

Seth Norton, CFI
Risk Management 
Consultant

Judy O’Brien, UXC
Communications Manager



37PDRMA.ORG

Leslie Reid
Health Program Operations 
Supervisor

Lindsey Robertson, 
CPO, CPSI
Risk Management 
Consultant

Travis Willis, CCNA
IT Support Technician

Randy Wilson, MS, 
ARM, CISSP
Network Manager

Kyle Saros, CPO, CPRP
Risk Management 
Consultant

Miguel Soto
Office Coordinator

Hannah Sullivan
Administrative Services 
Manager

Ann Traczek, AIC
Claims Consultant

PDRMA STAFF



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core

Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

A Mike Maloney Communit Select One

A Mike Maloney Excellence Select One

A Mike Maloney Excellence Select One

A Dan Anderson Stewardsh Select One
Nick Cozzi

A Dan Anderson Excellence Select One

A Dan Anderson Stewardsh Select One
Karsten Ziemann

A Dan Anderson Excellence Select One
Nick Cozzi

Provide updated job description, create project delivery 

checklist, and develop monthly/quarterly project update 

email for FT staff.

Renew LEED AP BD+C certification.

Land Management Crew will create an irrigation plan 

to evaluate which aspects of irrigation can be done in-

house and which will need to be contracted out.

Dan will create an internship curriculum/plan for their 

intern Ben.

Provide 5 year update on ADA Transition Plan which 

was completed in April 2018.  Develop plan to 

complete remaining compliance items by 2028.

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns

Land Management Crew will perform rubber repairs at 

all playgrounds in need.

Land Management Crew will prep (spray, plant, and 

seed) Wellington Park to naturalize the detention and 

build green infrastructure.



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core
Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

A Jerry Kolodziej Excellence Select One

A Jerry Kolodziej Excellence Select One

A Clint Poynor Excellence Select One

A Dave Anderson Excellence Select One

A Andy McDowell Excellence Select One

A Kyle Moody Excellence Select One
Andy McDowell

A Felix Yarovsky Excellence Select One

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Learn more about Fitness Center operations. 

Implement 1hour/week E-training with my team using 

Interplay Learning. 

Work through HVAC controls issues at CAC. 

Organize repair parts in basement. 

Complete the train the trainer program for the the lift 

truck staff training. 

Emmerich Basement clean up and organization.

Complete PDRMA training. 

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core

Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

A Randy Smith Excellence Select One
Tim Howe

A Tim Howe Stewardsh Select One

A Karsten Ziemann Stewardsh Select One

A Steve Houde Excellence Select One
Matt Raupp
Mark Bajno
Joe Jagiello

A Rosendo Soto Excellence Select One
Tom Hoffman

Jose Soto

A Jose Soto Excellence Select One

A Rosendo Soto Character Select One
Tom Hoffman

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Assist with the training of the new Superintendent of 

Parks before last day on 6/23/23

Appy for a scholarship through NRPA for the National 

Green Infrastructure Certification Program.

Karsten will create a native plant bed behind the 

Willow Stream Pool guard house.

Athletics Crew will repair the Drazner Park bocce ball 

courts with new boards and restore the sand.

Turf Crew will work with the Beautification Crew to 

weed spray parking lots, sidewalks, tree beds, and 

planter beds in the high visibility park sites.

Jose will relandscape the ID beds with natural plants.

Rosendo and Tom will evaluate staff needs for their 

crew and consider hiring a new permanent part-time or 

full-time crew member.

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core

Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

A Jose Soto Character Select One

A Tony Vraniak Excellence Select One

A Select One Character Select One
Dani Hoefle

A Select One Stewardsh Select One
Dani Hoefle

A Select One Character Select One
Dani Hoefle

A Select One Stewardsh Select One
Dani Hoefle
Erika Strojinc

A Select One Select Select One

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Jose and Esteban will evaluate staff structure within their 

part-time staff.

Tony will research and investigate additional options for 

staff to secure equipment within truck beds.

Dani will meet 1:1 with all Grounds Crew employees.

Dani will learn about the Parks Department budget and 

make a plan and timeline for purchases, including 

vehicles and equipment.

Dani will make some administrative changes for the 

Grounds staff regarding meetings, schedules, office 

work, etc.

Dani and Erika will create a sign storage room at 

Emmerich with slots and labels.  The room will make it 

easy for staff to locate appropriate signs for their 

programs/events and prevent duplicate purchases.

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core
Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

B Mike Maloney Stewardsh Select One
Jerry Kolodziej
Clint Poynor

B Mike Maloney Excellence Select One
Dani Hoefle

B Nick Cozzi Communit Select One

B Tony Vraniak Character Select One

B Dan Anderson Excellence Select One
Karsten Ziemann

B Jerry Kolodziej Excellence Select One

B Jerry Kolodziej Excellence Select One

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Feasibility study for Energy Star portfolio manager for 

facilities, starting with Community Arts Center or Raupp 

Museum.
Update all facility exit plans, update Willow Stream 

Park signage, and complete the shelter rental diagrams.  

Nick will create two social media posts a month 

connecting the community to safety for the Safety 

Committee.

Tony will create a system for vehicle and equipment key 

organization for the District.

Dan and Karsten will apply for their Burn Boss 

certfication, will allow the agency to do controlled 

burns of our natural areas independently as a 

management tool.
Leading and motivating my team to perform better and 

be more efficient. 

Professional development (going to conferences or 

trainings to develop new skills).

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core
Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

B Clint Poynor Excellence Select One

B Dave Anderson Excellence Select One

B Felix Yarovsky Excellence Select One

B Andy McDowell Excellence Select One
Tony Vraniak

B Kyle Moody Excellence Select One
Felix Yarovsky

B Tim Howe Communit Select One

B Nick Cozzi Excellence Select One

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Train staff at buildings regarding equipment operations 

and troubleshooting.

Take additional continuing education classes.

Learn and operate new fitness equipment technology.  

Learn how to weld from Tony.

Learn and operate HVAC BAS computer program.

Assist the Village of Buffalo Grove with a grant called 

America in Bloom.  

Nick will take his CPRP exam.

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core

Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

B Jose Soto Excellence Select One

B Tony Vraniak Excellence Select One

B Rosendo Soto Excellence Select One
Tom Hoffman

B Rosendo Soto Excellence Select One
Tom Hoffman Innovation

Jose Soto
Tony Vraniak

B Steve Houde Excellence Select One
Matt Raupp
Mark Bajno
Joe Jagiello

B Steve Houde Excellence Select One
Mark Bajno

B Steve Houde Excellence Select One
Matt Raupp
Mark Bajno

Joe Jagiello

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Beautification Crew will stump grind from tree removals.

Tony will reorganize the shop at Emmerich for 

installation of a vehicle lift.

Turf Crew will top dress, reseed, and fertilize areas 

where trees have been removed.

Rosendo, Tom, Jose, and Esteban will help Tony 

research and demo brush chipper safety solutions.

Athletics Crew will paint the foul ball posts at Rylko, 

Emmerich,and Churchill, as well as paint the goal posts 

of the football field at Emmerich East.

Athletics Crew will work on parking lot maintenance 

including repainting the handicapped and parking lot 

lines and pothole filling. 

Athletics Crew will research tennis and basketball court 

crack solution ideas, locate a contractor for major 

repairs, and conduct preventative maintenance on 

smaller cracks.
Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



Buffalo Grove Park District  23-24 Goals and Objectives Parks, Planning and Facilities

Character: build respect, integrity and trust,  foster teamwork 

through communication and collaboration, demonstrate 

professionalism

Stewardship: demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency; build green 

infrastructure; ensure resource efficiency; create and maintain effective 

partnerships; celebrate history

Excellence:  promote staff development, follow best practices, 

provide quality experience through guest-centered services, 

exceed expectations, assure safety through comprehensive risk 

management program

Community: embrace cultural diversity; encourage inclusion;  celebrate 

contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers

Quarter to Core

Objectives be Complete Staff Value Comments

B Select One Character Select One
Dani Hoefle

B Tim Howe Innovation Select One
Dani Hoefle

B Select One Character Select One
Dani Hoefle

B Tim Howe Excellence Select One
Dani Hoefle

B Tim Howe Excellence Select One

Select One Select One Select Select One

Select One Select One Select Select One

Innovation:  implement new technology, 

communicate a shared vision, recognize trends by 

being responsive and adaptive, inspire creativity

Core Values

Dani will shadow various Grounds crews to continue 

learning about day-to-day work.

Dani will explore software solutions to manage work 

orders, inspections, and fleet management to replace 

MainTrac.

Dani will help onboard and train the new risk 

management team.

Dani and Tim will finalize reviewing and revising the 

PPE Manual, by adding additional equipment and 

conducting hazard analyses for equipment as needed.

Tim will update the master inventory of all of the park 

amenitites in the parks including benches, bleachers, 

playgrounds, basketball rims, etc as part of the 

presentation in the winter.

Do not add any additional Rows or Columns



 
 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
  ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
FROM:  MICHAEL MALONEY, PARKS PLANNER 
DATE:  JUNE 26, 2023 
RE: CONTRACT FOR WILLOW STREAM PARK SOUTH PARKING LOT 

RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT 
 

 

Action Requested 
Staff asks that the Board award the contract for the Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot 
Reconstruction project to Abbey Paving and Sealcoating Co., Inc. out of Aurora, Illinois. 
 
 
History 
On June 22, 2023 at 10 am, bids were received for the Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot 
Reconstruction project located at 651 Old Checker Road.  The Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot 
Reconstruction project scope of work consists of removal and replacement of HMA parking lot, removal and 
replacement of concrete curbs, removal and replacement of HMA pathways, removal and replacement of 
PCC sidewalk, storm sewer improvements, fence installation, and landscaping.  The project also included 
an Alternate for landscaping around the existing park signage.   
 
During the bidding period, which began on June 1, 2023, a total of (14) contractors became Bidders of 
Record and (6) contractors submitted a sealed bid through BHFX’s plan room.  The bid opening was 
conducted via Zoom by Michael Maloney and witnessed by Tim Howe.  Thomas Rychlik from Gewalt 
Hamilton Associates, Inc. and three of the six bidding contractors logged in to view the bid opening via 
Zoom.  The Bid Opening was recorded on Zoom and a Bid Tabulation has been sent out to all Bidders of 
Record, as well as posted on the Park District website.  Please refer to the attached Bid Tabulation. 
 



2 
 

On June 23, 2023, we performed a scope review and reviewed the qualifications and references of the 
low bidder, Abbey Paving and Sealcoating Co., Inc.  We have found no evidence, which would 
disqualify this contractor and have included a copy of the signed scope review minutes for reference.  
Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. has had a positive history of working with Abbey Paving and 
Sealcoating Co., Inc. on similar scope projects.  Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. has provided a 
verbal recommendation to move forward with Abbey Paving and Sealcoating Co., Inc. on this project 
and will submit a formal letter of recommendation to us, for our records.   
 
We therefore recommend awarding the Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot Reconstruction project 
contract to, Abbey Paving and Sealcoating Co., Inc. for their base bid proposal of $860,787.90.  We 
are recommending that we decline Alternate #1 and will address the landscaping around the signage in-
house with our parks staff.   
 
A breakdown of the project cost is provided below:  
 
Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot Reconstruction:  
23/24 Capital Budget     $891,146.00    
Base Bid – Abbey Paving and Sealcoating Co., Inc. ($860,787.00)  
Balance       $30,359.00 

The remaining budget will be used for Consultant, 
Printer, and Permit Fees. 
 
 

Enclosed: 
Bid Tabulation 
Project Scope Review Meeting 

 



Bid Tabulation
`

PROJECT TITLE Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot Reconstruction Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot Reconstruction
DATE / TIME: June 22, 2022, 10am June 22, 2022, 10am

Kelly Biello
1900 Wright Boulevard
Schaumburg, IL 60193

847-891-6000 kbiello@alampconcrete.com N/A Y $918,629.00 $15,000.00 Y 12 Y N Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Owen Smith
1949 County Line Road

Aurora, IL 60502
630-585-7220 owen@abbey-paving.com N/A Y $860,787.90 $11,075.00 Y 12 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Erick Oleson
558 E Burnett Road

Island Lake, IL 60042
630-546-0235 erick.oleson@gmail.com N/A N/A

Scott Marquart
1166 Lake Avenue

Woodstock, IL 60098
815-338-5900 estimating@alliancecontractors.com N/A N/A

John Purta
1445 Oakton Street

Elk Grove Village, IL 60007
847-472-7262 jpurta@arrowroad.com N/A N/A

Joel Avitia
1205 Garland Road
Wauconda, IL 60084

847-526-5457 javitia@bergerexcavating.com N/A Y $937,943.40 $24,500.00 Y 12 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Julie Heiderman
225 Telser Road

Lake Zurich, IL 60047
847-550-9681 office@chicagolandpaving.com N/A N/A

Eric Greene
30 Technology Pkwy South

Suite 100
Norcross, GA 30092

513-458-8636 content@constructconnect.com N/A N/A

Kevin Garrison
11013 122nd Street

Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158
262-857-7414 kevingarrison@dkcontractors.net N/A Y $1,074,335.88 $17,117.00 Y 12 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Alberto Corona
3N775 Powis Road

West Chicago, IL 60185
630-377-1212 tony@evansandsonblacktop.com N/A N/A

Brad Manko
28090 W. Concrete Drive

Ingleside, IL 60041
847-514-8483 manko@manevalpaving.com N/A N/A

Jerry Kutrovatz
1200 Gasket Drive

Elgin, IL 60120
847-608-6800 jerry@martam.com N/A N/A

Gordon Harmon
16W273 83rd Street

Suite D
Burr Ridge, IL 60527

630-654-8242 gordon.harmon@murphysealcoating.com N/A Y $1,085,563.80 $22,700.00 Y 12 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Rachael McDow
11022 S Grant Highway

Marengo, IL 60152
815-923-4380 rachael@schroederasphalt.com N/A Y $1,139,688.00 $20,000.00 Y 12 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

NO BID SUBMITTED

Murphy Construction Services LLC

A Lamp Concrete Contractors Inc.

Chicagoland Paving Contractors Inc.

Schroeder Asphalt Services Inc

Abbey Paving & Sealcoating

Evans & Son Blacktop Inc.

Maneval Construction

Martam Construction Inc.

DK Contractors Inc.

ConstructConnect - Georgia

IN
SU

R
AN

C
E

 BASE BID

BID FORMS CERTIFICATIONS

EMAILBIDDER CONTACT ADDRESS PHONE

BI
D

 B
O

N
D

W
A

RR
A

N
TY

A
D

D
 #

01

AJ Oleson Construction Co.

Arrow Road Construction

Berger Excavating Contractors Inc.

Alliance Contractors Inc.

REMARKS

SU
BS

T.
 D

A
TE

An
ti-

C
ol

lu
s'

n 
Af

fid
av

it

D
ru

g 
Fr

ee
 

W
or

k 
Pl

ac
e

ATTEND 
PRE-BID

A
G

RE
EM

EN
T

H
ar

as
sm

en
t 

Po
lic

y 
Fo

rm

R
EF

ER
EN

C
ES

U
N

IT
 C

O
ST

 
W

O
RK

SH
EE

T

ALTERNATE #1

Bi
d 

R
ig

gi
ng

 
Fo

rm

Eq
ua

kl
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t

La
w

 
C

om
pl

ia
nc

e

Page 1 of 1











 

 

 

 

Memorandum 

 
TO:  PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
  ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
FROM:  AMANDA BUSCH, RECREATION SUPERVISOR 
RE:  CLUBHOUSE BUS BID FOR 2023-24 
DATE:  JULY 5, 2023 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Action Requested: 

Staff is requesting that the Board approve the 2023-24 Clubhouse Bus Bid to provide service for the 

2023-24 school year.   

 

History: 

Clubhouse has used First Student for transportation services for many years.  Last school year we 

utilized the final bus bid extension with First Student, which required us to go out for bid for the 2023-

24 school year.  The bus bid request was published in the Daily Herald on July 15, 2023 and was 

out to bid for 15 business days.  We received three bids from the following businesses:  Safeway 

Transportation, Grand Prairie Transportation and First Student Transportation.  Safeway Transportation 

came in with the lowest bid at $399.52 per day/per bus.  Amanda contacted three references 

provided by Safeway Transportation and all three references have been very satisfied with their 

service.  Attached you will find a copy of the Clubhouse Bid Return spreadsheet.  Staff recommends 

that the board approve this bid for the 2023-2024 school year to Safeway Transportation, 1030 S 

Milwaukee Ave., Wheeling, IL 60090. 

 

 

Enclosed: 

2023-24 Bus Bid Instructions 

2023-24 Bid Return Spreadsheet 

 



Buffalo Grove Park District 

Clubhouse Field Trip Bus Bid 2023-2024 
Bus Service Specifications 

 

1. Field Trip Bus Specifications 

a. 28 Field Trips for school year 2023-2024 

i. Number of field trips and days of the week vary; based upon the schools days 

off schedule 

ii. 1-5 buses per day 

iii. September 1, 2023 – June 7, 2024 

iv. 8 AM – 4 PM 

v. Times vary depending upon off-site location and time of scheduled trip.  Time 

listed is for bidding purposes.  Field trip locations vary from local to outlying 

areas; can travel as far as Kenosha, WI, Rockford, IL or Chicago, IL. 

vi. Pick-up and drop-off location is the Alcott Center located at 530 Bernard 

Drive, Buffalo Grove, IL 60089, unless otherwise specified.     

 

2. Pre-Summer Camp Field Trips 

a. Up to 10 Field Trips over two weeks 

i. 1-4 Buses per day 

ii. May 27, 2024 – June 7, 2024 

iii. 8 AM – 4 PM 

iv. Times vary depending upon off-site location and time of scheduled trip.  Time 

listed is for bidding purposes.  Field trip locations vary from local to outlying 

areas; can travel as far as Kenosha, WI, Rockford, IL, or Chicago, IL. 

v. Pick-up and drop-off location is the Alcott Center located at 530 Bernard 

Drive, Buffalo Grove, IL 60089, unless otherwise specified.     

 



Clubhouse Field Trip Return Bus Bid 2023

Safeway Transportation Bid Price Additional Total
Per Day/Per Bus Costs Cost

1 Field Trip Bus $399.52 $11,186.56
2 Pre-Summer Camp Field Trips $399.52 $11,186.56

Total Bid $22,373.12

Grand Prairie Transit Bid Price Additional Total
Per Day/Per Bus Costs Cost

1 Field Trip Bus $466.00 $13,048.00
2 Pre-Summer Camp Field Trips $466.00 $13,048.00

Total Bid $26,096.00

First Student Bid Price Additional Total
Per Day/Per Bus Costs Cost

1 Field Trip Bus $624.00 $17,472.00
2 Pre-Summer Camp Field Trips $624.00 $17,472.00

Total Bid $34,944.00

1



 

 

 

 

Memo 
TO:  PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
  ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
FROM:  JOE ZIMMERMANN, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION & FACILITIES 
RE:  RECREATION PROGRAM ENROLLMENT STATISTICS 
DATE:  JULY 5, 2023 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Action Requested: 
No action is requested from the board. 
 
 
Background Information: 
Annually, the Recreation Department shares program enrollment numbers with the Board of 
Commissioners.  The activities are broken down by respective seasons, and previous years are 
included to show fluctuations over time. 
 
I have also included a few charts to highlight how much we have rebounded in youth programs, 
camps, and annual passes. 
 
Overall, this is a great sign that our community is taking advantage of the many programs and services 
that the Park District offers, and that we are on a positive trajectory for FY 2023-24. 
 
 
Enclosed: 
Recreation Program Enrollment Statistics 2018-2023 (spring). 
 

 



Program Registration Numbers

Season Description Sum. '18 Sum. '19 Sum. '20 Sum. '21 Sum. '22

Summer (1) Adult and Fitness & Wellness 474 478 45 155 214

Aquatics 528 586 140 351 625

BGFC Classes 129 169 156 182 191

Performing Arts/Dance 312 543 496 251 417

Youth & Family 296 382 32 218 250

Youth Sports 1624 1313 190 1103 1416

Totals 3363 3471 1059 2260 3113

Season Description Fall '18 Fall '19 Fall '20 Fall '21 Fall '22

Fall (2) Adult and Fitness & Wellness 629 604 30 205 289

Aquatics 605 693 291 396 462

BGFC Classes 197 241 89 202 222

Youth & Family 399 493 92 300 483

Youth Sports 758 1060 126 808 1079

Totals 2588 3091 628 1911 2535

Season Description Wint. '18 Wint. '19 Wint. '20 Wint. '21 Wint. '22

Winter (3) Adult and Fitness & Wellness 470 493 11 89 153

Aquatics 325 292 102 106 149

BGFC Classes 295 210 88 103 228

Summer Day Camps 2978 921 1381 1955 2564

Performing Arts/Dance 281 372 194 317 314

Special Events 302 410 23 31 460

Youth & Family 459 478 92 217 511

Youth Sports 810 634 140 743 887

Totals 5920 3810 2031 3561 5266

Season Description Spr. '19 Spr.'20 Spr.'21 Spr.'22 Spr.'23

Spring (4) Adult and Fitness & Wellness 333 86 29 196 217

Aquatics 674 270 107 240 231

Performing Arts/Dance 291 294 272 230 150

Special Events 70 59 213 185 304

Youth & Family 404 99 262 328 506

Youth Sports 571 20 409 546 635

Totals 2343 828 1292 1725 2043

Season Description Spr. '19 Spr.'20 Spr.'21 Spr.'22 Spr.'23

Passes Clubhouse 995 1014 105 584 612

Dog Park - Annual Pass 290 266 243 300 326

Golf Dome 5-Hr. Pass 1007 948 656 812 980

Totals 2292 2228 1004 1696 1918

Total by Fiscal Year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

16506 13428 6014 11153 14875



  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Youth & Family Youth Sports

Description

Spring - Youth Programs

Spr. '19

Spr.'20

Spr.'21

Spr.'22

Spr.'23



 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Clubhouse Dog Park - Annual Pass Golf Dome 5-Hr. Pass

Description

Passes

Spr. '19

Spr.'20

Spr.'21

Spr.'22

Spr.'23



 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF MEETINGS REPORT 
JUNE 2023 

 
JUNE 6, 2023 
Joe: 

 Will present AI data points and demographics to feel out rec staff interest at their meeting. 
 Aly held her end-of-year parent meetings and they went well. 
 Crescendo Show Choir sold 50 tickets for each of their shows on June 1 and 2. 
 Chuck met with Eco Clean today and discussed cleaning expectations. 
 Representative Mary Beth Canty is hosting a scavenger hunt in a few of our Cook County 

parks. 
 Debbie is writing an article for IAPD on the partnership at the Museum with the Korean Cultural 

Center. 
 Museum wedding exhibit opened yesterday; Exhibit Partner Party is on July 15. 
 BGHS pool pump went down but they got it back up quickly; didn’t have to move lessons. 
 Tuck-pointing is done at the FC. 
 Jimmy added language to rental forms about driving on park paths. 
 Discussed taking shoes off during weight lifting at the FC; will reach out to other fitness centers 

to see how they handle it. 
 Chuck is going to be the contact for Buddies and Keshet (baseball at Drazner). 
 190 people signed up for Camp Connection; bussing is completed, and site assignments are 

done. 
 Only six sections of camps have limited space remaining. 
 Clubhouse has 115 - 130 kids each day at Alcott this week. 

 
John: 

 Sent notice out about records disposal; they will be out on Wednesday.  Some boxes are 
being stored at the Golf Dome and Jose will pick them up. 

 Reminded staff that Janet will take over payroll processing; payroll changes still go through 
Scott. 

 Working with Erika on the Cook County levy. 
 
Beth: 

 Finished updating the Municipal Directory and posted it outside John’s office.   
 Updated the Freedom of Information Act informational flyer up at the front desk. 
 Registered commissioners for NRPA Conference. 



2 
 

 Invoiced NSSRA and Lake County agencies for the Legislative Dinner. 
 The Rylko Amphitheater and SNP expansion bid notice will be published in the Herald on 

Wednesday. 
 Sent out Cinderella ticket reservation requests to the Board and FOP. 

 
Mike T: 

 Wendy is sending the welcome letter out to 60 new BG residents. 
 Meeting with Pitney Bowes people tomorrow about brochure distribution postage. 
 Working on preschool website rebuild. 
 Will be at camp training on Thursday; bringing his staff to introduce. 
 Nic is working on Clubhouse snapchat ad video; will start in July. 
 Will do an update video on Alcott demolition/reconstruction. 
 Sponsorship is busy; BG Days is at $15,000. 
 Jennifer and Nic will be working with Debra on scan codes for the new exercise equipment. 
 Two interns from BGPD start next week; Heather and Taylor. 

 
Dani: 

 Emmerich East sign that was damaged from car accident will be covered by PDRMA. 
 Attended the PDRMA Membership Assembly meeting; learned can now purchase PATH 

coverage separately for employees; it is expensive. 
 New PDRMA annual report is out; will share with the board. 
 Will attend camp training on Thursday. 
 Completed Risk Management new-hire employee orientation. 
 Thanked Dylan who helped her compile the ladder surplus lists. 
 AED pads are still backordered; many are expired.  Pushing the vendor. 
 Thanked all who helped with the Pride Picnic; Uniquely Us team was amazing.  Thanked the 

athletics and land management crews for setup. 
 Received Farmer’s Market COI’s. 

 
Mike M. for Tim H.: 

 Thanks to Jerry and the Facilities Staff, Clint/Kyle/Andy, for getting SNP open for the season 
on May 31 and Willow Stream Pool ready for the season on June 12.   

 Congratulations to Dani for taking over the role of Superintendent of Parks.   
 Congratulations to Esteban on becoming a full-time staff member.   
 Facilities staff have transitioned into their summer schedule consisting of 4 days per week, 10 

hours per day.   
 Scheduled meetings with the Village Public Works and Community Development for parks 

department quarterly projects meeting. 
 Presenting 5-year update on the ADA Transition Plan to the board in August. 
 Working on a project delivery checklist to clarify expectations at various stages of a capital 

project.   
 Alcott Demo work is complete.  
 Midwest Mechanical was out to review the VAV’s at the CAC and diagnose and program the 

existing controllers.  
 Room 22 door replaced and kickstand was installed in lieu of closer at the CAC. 



3 
 

 Emmerich courts closed due to surface cracks; repairs should be completed by the end of this 
week. 

 Hacienda will make repairs where the anchors were replaced at the Golf Dome.  
 Museum roof replacement project to start August 7.  
 Final paperwork and signage for the Solar Light Grant at the Nature Classroom is due by June 

15.  
 Willow Stream South parking lot project is out to bid.  
 Playground crew, Dan/Nick, performing playground inspections along with some minor 

repairs.  They will also be installing a new memorial bench at Mill Creek Park.   
 Nick has been starting up the irrigation systems and performed a few minor repairs identified 

during startup. 
 Waiting on the signed Parkchester Park OSLAD Grant paperwork.   
 Prairie Grove Park: Hacienda was approved for the project; construction June to November 

2023.  A construction letter needs to go out to the public. 
 Apple Hill and Veterans Park projects to start design work in November.  
 Rylko Amphitheater/SNP is out to bid; construction start on September 11  
 2023 Rylko Park Improvements: Landscaping and site drainage around the Inline Rink has 

been completed.  Sport Court completed repairs of the existing asphalt; dasher boards are 
being installed.  

 2024 OSLAD: Meeting with staff on June 6 to review the two site concepts. Two community 
engagement sessions with Upland are scheduled for June 26 and July 19.  

 
Erika: 

 Will register staff for NRPA next week. 
 Camp training is on Thursday. 
 Will further discuss pathway at Alcott. 
 Will attend Efficiency Committee webinar. 
 Need Prairie Grove Park timeline; want to email residents and post on website. 
 Asked about Rylko ballfield quote update. 

 

June 13, 2023 
Joe: 

 Willow Stream and SNP closed yesterday and today due to inclement weather. 
 SNP rentals are at $13,000+ to date; $19,000 total in 2022. 
 Try-It Tuesdays are back at the Museum; the first is on Butter Churning. 
 Will take 4-6 weeks to receive the new exercise equipment at the FC; would like three bike 

racks. 
 Still having chiller issues at the FC; meeting with Carrier HVAC this week. 
 Happy 50th Birthday Diana!!! 
 Camp training went well last week; they enjoyed moving around.  Thanked staff that helped.  
 Swim testing and meet-and-greets went well. 
 Shout out to Diana from Brian for onboarding the new staff and handling Megan’s work while 

she is on maternity leave. 
 Bow Wow Dog Expo had a really good turnout; Dylan and Mike P. did a great job. 



4 
 

 Getting quotes on CAC replacement curtains. 
 
John: 

 Updating fixed assets through the Kroll system. 
 Going through the checklist for the upcoming audit. 
 New hires are entered in the payroll system.   
 Janet will be taking over payroll when Liza retires next Monday. 
 Steve Houde is retiring at the end of September. 

 
Beth: 

 Will send out Best Friend Award nomination forms to the Board and staff.   
 Will send Tracey Crawford NWSRA Board Representative and Alternate now that the staff 

appointment is made. 
 Added Scott Britton, the Cook County Commissioner, to our VIP list.  His district includes a 

small part of Buffalo Grove. 
 
Mike T: 

 Updated the FC digital sign with upcoming events. 
 Perry Weather widget is on the SNP and WS Pool pages. 
 Attending the Village of BG branding initiative meeting tomorrow. 
 Clubhouse video for Snapchat is almost done; Joe and Amanda will review it.   
 Wendy resigned North Shore Healthcare sponsorship. 
 Wendy is working on getting a new sponsor for the BG Days beer cups. 
 Preschool website redesign is done; Keri will review. 

 
Dani: 

 Waiting to hear back from PDRMA on CAC curtains, Emmerich sign, and Room 1 structural 
damage. 

 PDRMA Athletico visit to parks department on Friday; will train on injury 
prevention/ergonomics. 

 Camp risk management training went well; conversation with minors went well. 
 AED pads will take another month to arrive.  Will purchase five new AED machines covered in 

our budget for this fiscal year for the FC. 
 Mike P. dropped off two-way radios at camp sites yesterday. 
 Will have the finalized Risk Management list by tomorrow to Erika. 

 
Tim H.: 

 Waiting for permit from Village for Prairie Grove Park. 
 Will send Erika ideas for planters for the FC. 
 Courts at Emmerich are back open. 
 There is a glitch on MainTrac affecting work orders; working on it.  Looking at new software. 
 Held pre-bid meeting today for Rylko Park renovation and 4 companies showed up. 
 Resident requests about Bocci ball court; will fix up the court at Drazner Park. 
 Stolen buffalo at Weiss Park has been replaced. 
 Received invoice for the bike rack at Veterans Park; will split with D102. 



5 
 

 Roof work will start at the Museum on August 7. 
 WS Parking lot bid opening is on June 22. 
 Rylko Park Amphitheater and SNP expansion bid opening is on June 29. 

 
Erika: 

 Asked Tim about building a lift for garbage cans to empty trash for custodians; will also look at 
a different garbage can.   

 Waiting on last quote for Rylko ball fields turf replacement. 
 Asked Tim to have Mike M. add CAC LED lighting to capital plan. 
 WS parking lot work starts September 11 with substantial completion end of November; need 

to plan programming around this work.  Would like language in the fall book. 
 One-on-one meeting at Village tomorrow. 
 If staff has any recommendations for a Park Board Commissioner, please inform Erika. 
 Will send the Prospective Board Candidate Packet to Bloomberg and then to the Board for 

review. 
 

June 20, 2023 

Tim: 
 Spoke with DCEO about the $3 million dollar grant. Turned paperwork back in with their 

questions answered. 
 Followed up with Greg about MainTrac failure issues. 
 Tim and Dani met the contract tree trimmer on Friday; he is retiring but has a referral.   
 There is a tennis court rental at Mirielle Park from 9 am to noon, Monday through Friday, 

through August.  It is a tennis camp and they do have a permit to be there from us. 
 Pickleball court light at Drazner went out; one of the amps was short. 
 Concrete planters for FC and custodial lifts for the garbage dumpsters are ordered. 
 Working on draft IGA for painting the bridge over Route 83. 
 The mason work is starting on Alcott Room 1 this week or early next week. 

 
Dani: 

 Randy last day before retirement is Friday. 
 Received field observation report from PDRMA and there were no surprises. 
 Four AED’s are on order for the FC. 
 Wellbuilt Equipment wants to inspect our lifts off-site; they will be out of service for a few days. 
 Memorial bench built by an Eagle Scout at Mill Creek Park needs to be replaced due to 

structural concerns. 
 Carson and Dan are applying to be state-certified fire burn bosses. 
 Durabuilt will be out today to look at a gate for the Alcott playground. 
 Had a meeting this morning about the vestibule flooring at the FC; calling a flooring company 

to explore options for replacement. 
 
Mike: 

 Trying to get book to print; we’re close. 
 Sent donations to Salt Creek and Waukegan park districts for their fundraisers. 



6 
 

 Added a page on website under facilities for Mike Rylko Park; Erika asked Mike to feature the 
Nature Classroom and Gardens.  She does not want it embedded on the Museum page.   

 Clubhouse landing page is done for the Snapchat ad; Nic finished the video. 
 Discussed the poor resolution of flyers on TV screens; looking into what the issue is. 
 Wendy found a sponsor for the cups at BG Days.  
 Working on the fire ordinance update. 

 
Beth: 

 Sent Best Friend Award nomination forms to the Board and staff; deadline for submittal is 
Wednesday, July 5.  Need a Fred Bornstein award winning soccer coach.   

 Sent out invitations to Randy’s retirement party which is on Thursday, June 22 at the Chatterbox 
in downtown Long Grove from 3 – 5 pm.   

 Sent invitation to the Museum Exhibit Partner Party to the VIP List for the Summer Weddings 
exhibit on July 15 from 1 – 3 pm. 

 Sent Prospective Board Candidate binder content to Erika for legal counsel review. 
   

John: 
 Everyone received their payroll notice.  Thanked Erika for sending the email reminding staff of 

next payroll due on Monday, July 3 at 11 am.  Keep in mind it is the 4th of July weekend and 
you may be taking Monday off. 

 Auditors will be here next week. 
 Webinar today with PDRMA on updating our assets. 
 Reminded staff that Janet is now the payroll person. 

 
Joe: 

 Chuck has noticed that Alcott is light on programming in the evenings; working to get more 
programs after 5 pm. 

 Outdoor contract cleaning started on Thursday. 
 WS Pool had its 50th Birthday Party on Saturday. 
 Debbie is working on creating a Nature Center birthday rental form. 
 Flag Day was a success; shout out to Mike P. and Dylan who did a great job! 
 Residents were complimentary of the Park District at the Village’s branding meeting last week. 
 Concert in the Park cancelled last week was rescheduled to August 8. 

 
Erika: 

 CAC curtain was reversed; hole is now in the back. 
 Hayli’s Law does not apply to the Park District.  It is in regard to public health.  The law only 

prohibits the following entities from regulating “lemonade or nonalcoholic drinks or mixed 
beverages”: the Department of Public Health, the Health Department of a unit of local 
government, and a Public health district.  As a rule, we generally don’t care if a child sets up a 
lemonade stand in our park, however, it will not be allowed during one of our events. 

 NRPA registration is due Friday; please notify Erika once you are registered. 
 Attending a TIF meeting for the Dundee Corridor today at 2 pm at the Village. 
 Working on the Athletico lease. 
 Working on the Risk Management role moving forward. 



7 
 

JUNE 27, 2023 

Tim: 
 Outdoor security mirrors arrived for Alcott preschool wing exit (to playground). 
 Received quote for fencing and gate for Alcott playground; will get the gate going for now.  

The rest of the fencing will be addressed with Alcott master plan. 
 Thanked Mike for making playground maintenance signs; will pull the public engagement 

signs for June. 
 Dan, Nick and Karsten are working on playground surfacing repairs. 
 Dropped off construction update letter to Prairie Grove Park residents. 
 Let Debbie and Marina know about ADA ramp work being done on walkway at the Museum. 
 Thanked Dani for creating an onboarding training schedule. 
 Meeting with an asphalt contractor today on the Alcott parking lot. 
 The mason will be back to Alcott this week to work on Room 1 exterior. 
 Midwest Mechanical needs to address HVAC controls at the CAC; will be back out July 10. 
 Following up on punch list items with Schroeder Asphalt Services at Rylko Park. 
 Waiting on Prairie Grove Park permit from the Village. 
 Staff replaced the temperature sensor at the Willow Stream kiddie pool. 

 
Mike: 

 Designed logo for the Adventure Challenge t-shirt. 
 Book is on press. 
 Playground closed signs are done; will add QR code. 
 Reached out to the beer cup sponsor for BG Days; they want to put a QR code on the cups. 
 Sent Warrenville and River Trails donations for their fundraisers. 
 Nic is doing a second “Meet the Trainer” video on Friday. 
 Will be removing last names of PT staff from website. 
 Wendy is working on second half of summer social media; the concert social media post last 

week reached 22,000 people.  
 
Beth: 

 Received a Best Friend Business nomination for Bowlero from Wendy.   
 Scheduled the joint Board/FOP park tour for Monday, August 14.  Asked for RSVP’s in order 

to arrange transportation. 
 Ordered a gold leaf for the Living Tree Memorial – it is for the mother and two kids who were 

murdered in Buffalo Grove last November. 
 
John: 

 Received notification we were awarded the GFOA certificate of achievement for excellence in 
financial reporting for last year’s audit. 

 Payroll is due on Monday, July 3 at 11 am.  Please make certain your payroll is covered if 
you are off.   

 Will provide Erika with information for the IAPD survey. 
 
Joe: 

 Will cancel concert today if air quality index is at 200. 



8 
 

 Booked rooms for the general and primary elections at the CAC. 
 Carrier Heating & Cooling has not come out to the FC to check on the chiller. 
 Elevator lock to the basement at the FC is fixed. 
 Met about the vestibule grates and floor runners at the FC; getting quotes to replace. 
 Lots of compliments about the cleaning crew at the FC. 
 Jenay did a great job with International Day of Yoga and Member Appreciation Day. 
 Will add expiration dates to the old personal training packages. 
 Shout out to Jimmy for stepping in on Park Patrol while Jeff Spitz is off. 
 BG Fire department had concerns about the two emergency doors at Willow Stream pool; 

police department will review.  We are open to solutions. 
 Marina is finishing up Section 1of the STEPS certification program. 
 Happy Megan is back; thanked Amanda and Jimmy for helping while she was on maternity 

leave. 
 
Erika: 

 Scholarship total for refugees is needed for the next FOP meeting. 
 Broadway Buddies meeting is scheduled for July 26. 
 Asked about updated rules/waiver at the FC; Joe to follow through to make sure current 

members have signed off on the current waiver and updated rules. 
 Anyone who uses Placer AI information in any way, needs to acknowledge the company. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Memorandum 
 

TO:  PARK BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
FROM:  ERIKA STROJINC, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
RE:  PROSPECTIVE BOARD CANDIDATE PACKET 
DATE:  JUNE 29, 2023 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Action Requested: 
Staff is requesting that the Board review and approve the prospective board candidate packet.   
 
Background Information: 
As discussed at the last board meeting, we are updating our prospective board candidate packet in 
preparation of filling the board vacancy.  All items will be printed out and put in into a binder that is 
handed out to potential prospects.  Copies will be available for pick-up at the Alcott Center. 
 
The binder includes the following items: 
 

1) IAPD’s “Serving on a Park Board” Informational Flyer 
2) Buffalo Grove Park District Board Policy Manual 
3) Current FY Budget 
4) 6 Months of Prior Board Meeting Minutes 
5) 2 Most Recent Quarterly Brochures 

 
The entire packet was reviewed and approved by legal counsel on June 19, 2023.  Comments from 
Steve Bloomberg were “I reviewed and approve the Prospective Board Candidate Packet as both very 
informative and fairly sets forth the responsibility of being a Board member”. 

 
Enclosed: 
Items 1-2 of the above are enclosed.   
Items 3-5 are self-explanatory.  

 



 

 

 
 
 

Board of Commissioners Application 
Please submit no later than 5 pm on [DATE] to: 

 

Buffalo Grove Park District 
Attn:  Erika Strojinc, Executive Director 

530 Bernard Drive, Buffalo Grove, IL  60089 
 
 

Name: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Address: 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Home Phone: ______________________ Cell Phone: ___________________________  
 
Email Address: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Please describe why you are interested in serving in this volunteer position.   
 
 
 
 
 
Please tell us why you feel you are qualified to serve in this capacity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please describe your involvement in any other volunteer organizations.  
 
 



TRAINING & RESOURCES FOR 
CURRENT AND FUTURE BOARD 

MEMBERS
The Illinois Association of Park Districts has a number of 
resources that are available to you as a candidate and as 
an elected board member.

These resources include such important publications 
as The Park District Code, the Illinois Park District Law 
Handbook, and the Guide to the Open Meetings Act and 
FOIA.  

In addition, the IAPD helps board members understand 
the financial procedures of Illinois park districts with 
such publications as the Illinois Park District Financial 
Procedures and the Guide to Public Sector Employment 
Laws.

We encourage you to visit our website at ILparks.org an 
take advantage of the plethora of member resources that 
area available to you as you build your understanding of 
the park district system in Illinois.  

As a newly elected board member, you will be receiving 
the Illinois Parks and Recreation magazine which contains 
timely information on trends and governance issues. 

The IAPD also has robust educational offerings for 
new and seasoned board members alike and you are 
encouraged to participate in these throughout the year, 
such as:

• The opportunity to track your board service and 
education by applying for IAPD Board Development 
Program.

• The IAPD offers the Board Self-Evaluation that 
allows a board to take a look at themselves to 
determine their level of effectiveness and efficiency 
of operation.  This specialized training will be of great 
benefit to new board members as well as seasoned 
board members. It defines roles and responsibilities, 
describes duties for oversight and governance and 
assists in defining leadership within the agency.

To find out more about IAPD’s online resources 
or other IAPD educational services, contact: 

Peter Murphy, Esq., CAE, IOM
211 East Monroe Street | Springfield, IL 62701

217.523.4554 | pmurphy@ILparks.org

THE ELECTION PROCESS

Park district boards in Illinois are comprised of five 
or seven members called commissioners or trustees. 
To be eligible to serve as an elected commissioner or 
trustee, you must live in the district for at least one 
year prior to election day. Terms are for six years, 

but the board or the community can elect to change 
terms to four years. In general, two seats are up for 
election in the spring of each odd-numbered year. 

Briefly, the steps to being elected are:

1. In the fall of an even-numbered year, pick up a 
statement of economic interest and candidate petitions at 
your park district office.

2. Gather signatures of eligible voters so that your 
name may be placed on the ballot. You must obtain 25 
valid signatures or 2 percent of the number of ballots 
cast for commissioner or trustee in the last election, 
whichever number is greater.

3. File the nominating petitions and a statement 
of candidacy with the park district secretary between 
113 and 106 days prior to election day (usually in late 
December of an even-numbered year).

4. File a statement of economic interests with 
your county clerk (and a receipt with the park district 
secretary) on or before the final day for filing petitions.

5. Choose whether to file with the appropriate 
official clerk an optional loyalty oath and a voluntary 
statement of compliance with the Fair Campaign 
Practices Act.

6. File campaign finance disclosure forms with the 
State Board of Elections, if you raise or spend a prescribed 
amount on your campaign.

For specific details, contact your park district’s executive 
director, board secretary or county clerk. Or, check the 
State Board of Elections’ website at elections.il.gov.

Visit the IAPD online at 
ILparks.org

SERVING ON 
A PARK 

DISTRICT 
BOARD

WHAT DOES THAT MEAN?



The Illinois Association of Park Districts 
publishes books, provides training and 

assists board members in their desire to 
serve the public. 

Effective Board Members:

• Have an attitude of cooperation, open-mindedness  

 and objectivity.

• Are motivated only by a desire to serve the citizens  

 and the agency.

• Work with the executive, not over or around him or  

 her.

• Inspire the community’s confidence, respect and   

 support.

• Spend time in board meetings on strategic planning,  

 policies and procedures, not on operational details  

 that are the executive’s responsibility.

• Make no disparaging remarks about the agency,   

 other board members or their opinions.

• Keep high ethical standards.

• Display a talent for working well with others.

• Do not promise voting outcomes prior to learning  

 the facts of any issue.

• Do not make decisions until all sides of an issue   

 have been presented.

• Support board decisions even when a decision   

 conflicts with personal views.

BOARD OBLIGATIONS

As a board member, it is important that you 
commit to the “big picture” and the long-

term effects of the decisions you make. You 
should use sound judgment by weighing 
the pros and cons of each issue, be open 
to new ideas, and make ethical decisions. 
In addition, it helps to have the capacity 
to “take the heat” when unpopular, but 

necessary, decisions are made.

Board Members:

• Adopt policies that allow the organization   

	 to	run	efficiently,	effectively,	legally	and		 	 	

	 ethically.

•	 Request,	receive,	evaluate	and	make		 	 	

	 decisions	based	on	well	researched	guidance	from		

	 the	executive.

•	 Interpret	the	agency’s	mission,	values	and	vision	to		

	 the	public.

•	 Monitor	operational	and	capital	finances.

•	 Hire,	fire,	supervise,	evaluate	and	support	the		 	

	 executive.

• Establish policies after consideration of pros and   

	 cons	of	each	issue.

• Help set a strategic direction that adopts goals   

	 relating	to	the	vision	and	mission	of	the	agency.	

•	 Act	as	a	resource,	a	sounding	board	and	as	the	eyes		

	 and	ears	of	the	citizens	of	the	community,	making		

	 sure	that	the	agency	is	meeting	their	needs.

•	 Develop,	maintain	and	update	long-range	plans.

•	 Adopt	and	adhere	to	a	code	of	ethics.

SO YOU WANT TO SERVE ON THE 
PARK DISTRICT BOARD... 

WHAT DOES THAT MEAN?
By Peter Murphy, President and CEO 
Illinois Association of Park Districts

If you are appointed or elected to the park board, 
you will become a leader who has accepted a major 
civic responsibility. You should be willing to make a 
commitment to give freely of your time and talents 
to help strengthen and further the park, recreation 
and conservation mission of your community. 

As a board member, you will take on the 
responsibility for helping to set goals, formulate 
policies and establish services that will meet the 
present and future needs of the citizens of your 
district. The success of your agency depends 
to a great degree on how well you understand 
your role and how effectively you address your 
responsibilities as  a  board member.

More than 2,100 citizens serve on Illinois park 
district, forest preserve and recreation boards. 
Effective board members are respected citizens, 
well known and active in community affairs and 
interested in the total  recreational needs of their 
communities.

Serving without compensation, locally elected 
commissioners represent their fellow citizens 
and interpret their views. They have the primary 
responsibility of spending tax monies, fees and 
donations designated for park and recreation 
services. They spend, and spend wisely, millions of 
dollars every year.



6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Board Policy Manual 
 

Approved by Board of Park Commissioners: July 2022 
Approved by Board of Park Commissioners: April 2023 

 
 

Appendices in this Manual: 
Appendix A – Ordinance 18-6-1Fixing the Length of Time a Park Commissioner May Fail to Attend Meetings of 

the Park Board for the Office to be Declared Vacant and Providing for Declaring Such Vacancy 
Appendix B – Expense Reimbursement Policy 

Appendix C – Park, Facility, and Amenity Naming Policy 
Appendix D – Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Statement of Intent ....................................................................................................... Page 4 
Mission, Vision & Values ............................................................................................... Page 5 
 

Section 1 - Introduction 
1.1 Statutory Authority .................................................................................................. Page 6 
1.2 Legal Authority of this Policy Manual .......................................................................... Page 6 
1.3 Definitions ............................................................................................................ Page 6 
1.4 Revisions .............................................................................................................. Page 6 
1.5 Separability .......................................................................................................... Page 7 
 

Section 2 - Board and Administration 
2.1 Governance ......................................................................................................... Page 7 
2.2 Number  .............................................................................................................. Page 7 
2.3 Term of Office  ..................................................................................................... Page 7 
2.4 Inauguration ......................................................................................................... Page 7  
2.5 Oath of Office ...................................................................................................... Page 7 
2.6 Qualifications ....................................................................................................... Page 7 
2.7 Nomination .......................................................................................................... Page 7 
2.8 Election ............................................................................................................... Page 8 
2.9 Vacancies in Office ............................................................................................... Page 8 
2.10 Compensation .................................................................................................... Page 8 
2.11 Sponsored or Endorsed Workshops ........................................................................ Page 8 
2.12 Travel and Expenses ............................................................................................ Page 9 
2.13 Community Relations Activities .............................................................................. Page 10 
2.14 Board Member Emeritus ...................................................................................... Page 10 
2.15 Park, Facility, and Amenity Naming Policy .............................................................. Page 11 
 

Section 3 - Use of Park District Programs, Facilities and Equipment 
3.1 Pool Passes and Programs ..................................................................................... Page 11 
3.2 Golf Center ........................................................................................................ Page 11 
3.3 Golf Shop Discounts ............................................................................................. Page 11 
3.4 Fitness Center Membership and Services .................................................................. Page 11 
3.5 Recreation Programs/Group Lessons ....................................................................... Page 12 
3.6 Fitness Center Pro Shop Discounts ........................................................................... Page 12 
3.7 Use of Park District Property & Equipment .................................................................. Page 12 
3.8 Procedures ......................................................................................................... Page 13 
3.9 Facility Rentals .................................................................................................... Page 13 
3.10 Complimentary Tickets CAC ................................................................................ Page 13 
 

Section 4 - Ethics and Conduct 
4.1 Ethics Act ........................................................................................................... Page 13 
4.2 Legal Authority  ................................................................................................... Page 13 
4.3 Representation .................................................................................................... Page 13 
4.4 Board Decisions .................................................................................................. Page 14 
4.5 Board Unity ........................................................................................................ Page 14 
4.6 Relationship to the Executive Director/Designation of Authority ...................................... Page 14 
4.7 Indemnification .................................................................................................... Page 14 
4.8 Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy………………………………... …………….Page 14 
 

 



3 
 

Section 5 - Primary Functions of the Board 
5.1 Tax Levy ............................................................................................................ Page 14 
5.2 Use of Funds....................................................................................................... Page 14 
5.3 Make Adjustments ............................................................................................... Page 14 
5.4 Hiring/Appointment and Annual Review of the Executive Director ................................. Page 15 
5.5 Policies .............................................................................................................. Page 15 
5.6 Evaluation, Goals, Objectives ................................................................................ Page 15 
5.7 Monitor Operations ............................................................................................. Page 15 
5.8 Philosophy ......................................................................................................... Page 16 
5.9 Development ...................................................................................................... Page 16 
 

Section 6 - Officers of the Board 
6.1 President ............................................................................................................ Page 16 
6.2 Vice President ..................................................................................................... Page 16 
6.3 Appointed Personnel ............................................................................................ Page 16 
6.4 Additional Duties of Appointed Officers ................................................................... Page 18 
 

Section 7 - Park Board Liaison Positions and Ad Hoc Committees 
7.1 Board Liaison Positions ......................................................................................... Page 18 
7.2 Ad Hoc Committees ............................................................................................. Page 19 
 

Section 8 - Meetings 
8.1 Annual Meeting .................................................................................................. Page 19 
8.2 Regular Meetings ................................................................................................ Page 19 
8.3 Special Meetings ................................................................................................ Page 20 
8.4 Place of Meetings ................................................................................................ Page 20 
8.5 Open Meetings ................................................................................................... Page 20 
8.6 Closed Meetings ................................................................................................. Page 20 
8.7 Schedule and Notice ........................................................................................... Page 20 
8.8 Quorum ............................................................................................................. Page 20  
8.9 Order of Business ................................................................................................ Page 21 
8.10 Petitions Submitted by Residents ............................................................................ Page 21   
8.11 Discussion ........................................................................................................ Page 21  
8.12 Citizen Participation ........................................................................................... Page 21 
8.13 Ordinances, Resolutions, Motions ......................................................................... Page 21 
8.14 Voting ............................................................................................................. Page 21 
8.15 Rules of Order .................................................................................................. Page 21 
8.16 Official Minutes  ................................................................................................ Page 22 
8.17 Remote Attendance Policy ................................................................................... Page 22 
 

Appendices ................................................................................................. Starting Page 24 
Appendix A – Ordinance 18-6-1Fixing the Length of Time a Park Commissioner May Fail to Attend Meetings of 
the Park Board for the Office to be Declared Vacant and Providing for Declaring Such Vacancy 
Appendix B – Expense Reimbursement Policy 
Appendix C – Park, Facility, and Amenity Naming Policy 
Appendix D – Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy 
 
 

 
 



4 
 

Statement of Intent 
 

 
This Board Policy Manual is intended to describe existing policies/procedures as they apply to the 
Park Board of Commissioners.   
 
All Board Policies and Procedures will be included in this manual.  As part of the Park District’s regular 
review of policies, the Administrative Staff will undertake a thorough review the Board Policy Manual 
at least every 5 years.  During this review, the Administrative Staff will compile necessary changes to 
the manual for review by the Board.  The Board will be responsible for reviewing and approving any 
necessary recommendations. 
 
Following approval, each Board member will receive a complete Board Policy Manual.  The Board 
Policy Manual will also be available to key Administrative Staff.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 
 

 
Buffalo Grove Park District 
Mission, Vision & Values 

 
Mission: 

Enriching life and community through premier parks, programs and facilities. 
 

Vision: 
To lead our diverse community with innovative and exceptional experiences. 

 

 
We have a commitment to: 
Character: Build respect, integrity and trust 

Foster teamwork through communication and collaboration 
Demonstrate professionalism 

 
Excellence: Promote staff development 

Follow best practices 
Provide quality experience through guest-centered services 
Exceed expectations 
Assure safety through a comprehensive risk management program 

 
Stewardship: Demand fiscal responsibility to assure transparency 

Build green infrastructure 
Ensure resource efficiency 
Create and maintain effective partnerships 
Celebrate history 

 
Community: Embrace cultural diversity 

Encourage inclusion 
Celebrate contributions of residents, board, staff and volunteers 

 
Innovation: Implement new technology 

Communicate a shared vision 
Recognize trends by being responsive and adaptive 
Inspire creativity 

 
The Mission, Vision and Values were adopted by the Board of Commissioners in January 2013. 

Last reviewed by staff and Board as a part of Strategic Planning in August, 2019. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 



6 

Section 1 - Introduction 
 

1.1 Statutory Authority 
A park district is purely a creation of the legislature, and has no inherent powers, but only such powers 
as have been granted to it by the legislature, or as are necessarily implied to give effect to the powers 
specifically granted.   
 
A park district is a municipal corporation created for the purpose of acquiring and maintaining parks, 
and is separate and distinct from the city, county, or any other body politic.  It is an agency through 
which in part the people of the state carry on government.  It is not purely local in function, for the 
courts have ruled that park property is held in trust for the use of the people of the state at large and 
not for the exclusive use of the people of the district.  
 
The district is governed by numerous statutes of the State of Illinois.  (Ill. Comp. Stats.)  However, the 
principle statutory authority is the Park District Code (70 ILCS 1205/1-1, et seq.), which is 
codification of the general law relating to park districts in Illinois.  References and excerpts from the 
Park District Code and other related laws are made in this manual.  
 
1.2 Legal Authority of this Policy Manual 
In particular, the legal authority of this policy manual is (70 ILCS 1205/8-1 (d)) of The Code, which 
reads as follows:  "(d) To pass all necessary ordinances, rules and regulations for the proper 
management and conduct of the business of the board and district and to establish by ordinance all 
needful rules and regulations for the government and protection of parks, boulevards and driveways 
and other property under its jurisdictions, and to effect the objects for which such districts are formed." 
 
The statutes of the State of Illinois or any final court decision that is in conflict with the provisions of the 
policy manual shall supersede the provisions of this policy manual. 
 
1.3 Definitions 
For the purpose of the policy manual, the following terms shall have the definitions given herein:  
 

1. "District" is the Buffalo Grove Park District, Cook and Lake Counties, Illinois.  
 

2. "Board" is the Board of Commissioners of the Buffalo Grove Park District.  
 

3. "Code" is "The Park District Code," (70 ILCS 1205/1-1) approved July 8, 1947, as amended.  
 

For the purpose of this manual, words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender and 
words in the singular number shall include the plural number and vice-versa, and words in the present 
tense shall include the future tense. 

 
1.4 Revisions 
The Board may periodically review the policies contained in this manual and revise or amend them 
from time to time as they deem appropriate at a regular meeting of the Board by a majority of its 
members, except whereby law or the provisions of the manual itself, a vote greater than a simple 
majority is required.  



7 
 

 
1.5 Separability 
If any policy or part thereof contained in the policy manual shall be determined invalid in a court of 
law, such determination shall not affect the validity of the remaining policies or parts thereof.  
 
 

Section 2 - Board and Administration 
 
2.1 Governance 
The governance of the District is vested in the Board.  The members of the Board constitute the 
corporate authority.  
 
2.2 Number 
The Board shall be comprised of five (5) commissioners.  
 
2.3 Term of Office 
Each term of office for a Commissioner shall be four (4) years.  Terms are designated to expire on a 
staggered system.  Commissioners shall serve until their successors are duly elected, qualified, and 
have taken the oath of office. 
 
2.4 Inauguration 

1. Newly Elected or Re-elected Commissioners: 
 

a. Newly elected or re-elected Commissioners shall be inaugurated at the next regular 
scheduled Board meeting.  At this time, the "old" Board shall meet, conduct any 
unfinished business, and then adjourn.  The Secretary of the District shall then 
inaugurate the newly elected Commissioner(s) and the new Board shall then reconvene 
the meeting. 
 

2. Appointed Commissioners: 
 

a. Newly appointed Commissioners shall be inaugurated at the first regular Board 
meeting following their appointment.  

 
2.5 Oath of Office 
All elected and appointed Board members, before entering upon the duties of his office, shall take and 
subscribe to the Oath of Office.  
 
2.6 Qualifications 
Any person who is a United States citizen, qualified elector, and who has lived within the district for at 
least one year is qualified to be a candidate for the Office of Commissioner.  
 
2.7 Nomination 

1. A candidate for the Office of Commissioner must file a nominating petition with the appointed 
election official of the District, signed by qualified voters of the District equal in number to not 
less than 2% of the number who voted at the last preceding election for Commissioners in the 
District, but in no case by less than 25 registered voters. 



8 
 

 
2. The appointed election official of the District shall make available nominating petition forms 

and the required number of signatures to any prospective candidate for the office of 
Commissioner and shall publicize the first and last day for filing such nominating petitions well 
in advance of those dates. 
 

2.8 Election 
Commissioners shall be elected biennially to take the place of those whose terms expire. (Ill. Comp. 
Stat.)  Such elections shall take place at the election provided for the general election law.  (10 ILCS 
5/1-1)  
 
2.9 Vacancies in Office 
Whenever any member of the governing board of the Park District dies, resigns, becomes under legal 
disability (such that said Commissioner becomes unable to fulfill his duties), ceases to be a legal voter 
in the District, is convicted of any infamous crime, refuses or neglects to take his or her oath of office, 
neglects to perform the duties of his or her office or attend meetings of the Board for the length of time 
as the Board has fixed by Ordinance 18-6-1, or for any other reason specified by law, that office may 
be declared vacant.  Vacancies shall be filled by appointment by a majority of the remaining members 
of the Board.  Any person so appointed shall hold his or her office until the next regular election for this 
office, at which time a member shall be elected to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. If the vacancy occurs with less than 28 months remaining in the term, the person appointed to 
fill the vacancy shall hold his or her office until the expiration of the term for which he or she 
has been appointed, and no election to fill the vacancy shall be held. 
 

2. If the vacancy occurs with more than 28 months left in the term, but less than 123 days before 
the next regularly scheduled elections for this office, the person appointed to fill the vacancy 
shall hold his or her office until the second regularly scheduled election for the office following 
the appointment, at which a member shall be elected to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term. 
(70 ILCS 1205/2-25)  See ADDENDUM A. 

 
2.10 Compensation 
In accordance with statue, the Board serves without compensation.  (70 ILCS 1205/4-1).  
 
2.11 Sponsored or Endorsed Workshops 
All Board members will be encouraged to attend workshops conducted by the Illinois Association of 
Park Districts. 
 
The Buffalo Grove Park District Board believes that a knowledgeable board is essential to assuring 
excellence in parks, programs and facilities.  The Board must be aware of the latest trends, issues and 
practices in order to provide leadership and direction.  Therefore, the Board of Commissioners has 
established a policy in support of attendance at workshops sponsored or endorsed by the NRPA, IPRA, 
IAPD, and other similar organizations.  Park District Administrative staff is directed to maintain records 
of Board Member participation in these workshops, conferences and seminars. 
 
 



9 
 

2.12 Travel and Expenses 
Authorized travel or other expenses incurred by the Board and which are related to and pre-approved 
by the District shall be reimbursed upon documentation of such expenses in accordance with following 
policy: 
 

1. In conjunction with the preparation of the Budget and Appropriation Ordinance of the District 
for each fiscal year, the Board will determine the aggregate amount of funds to be made 
available for Commissioner attendance at workshops and conferences.  
 

2. Prior to each approved workshop/conference, the Board will designate those Commissioners 
who will attend.  
 

3. The Board shall designate approved meetings which may include but are not limited to the 
following:  
 

A. Workshops/conferences sponsored by the National Recreation and Park Association 
which include Commissioner educational sessions. 
 

B. Workshops/conferences sponsored by the Illinois Association of Park Districts which 
include Commissioner educational sessions. 
 

C. Workshops/conferences sponsored by the Illinois Park and Recreation Association 
which include Commissioner educational sessions. 
 

D. Workshops/conferences sponsored by the Park District Risk Management Association 
that may include educational sessions for Commissioners. 
 

4. The Park District staff shall make all reservations including travel, hotel and conference 
registration.  
 

5. The Park District will issue per diem in accordance with IRS regulations on any trip which 
involves at least one overnight accommodation.  Per diem is to be used for: 
 

A. Meals not covered by conference registration. 
B. All travel not covered. 
C. Entertainment expenses "Directly Related To" Park District business. 

 
6. If a delegate indicates his intention to attend an approved meeting and subsequently notifies 

the District of his intention not to attend such meeting, or fails to attend such meeting, for 
reasons other than illness or emergency, the delegate shall reimburse the District in full for all 
expenses incurred or monies advanced by the District on behalf of the delegate in connection 
with such meeting, within thirty (30) days after written request therefore is made by the District.  
 

7. No money for expenses shall be advanced to any delegate nor shall any delegate be 
reimbursed for any expenses incurred on behalf of any person other than such delegate, unless 
authorized in advance by the Board.  No authorization shall be given for any such expense 
which is not related to the business and affairs of the District.  



10 
 

 
8. Delegates shall report on educational sessions attended at approved meetings, which shall 

contain a brief description of subject matter and recommendations or ideas pertinent to the 
operations of the District, if any.   
 

9. Use of personal vehicles for District business shall be reimbursed at the current IRS standard 
mileage rate.  
 
Note:  The District approved Ordinance 16-12-2 Establishing a Policy to Regulate the 
Reimbursement of Travel, Meal and Lodging Expenses of Park District Commissioners and 
Employees on December 12, 2016.  The expense reimbursement policy is attached.         
See ADDENDUM B. 
 

2.13 Community Relations Activities 
The Board encourages its members to participate in a variety of community relations activities and shall 
reimburse any and all usual and customary expenses incurred by Board members who attend such 
activities as the official representatives of the District when so designated by the President of the Board. 
 
2.14 Board Member Emeritus (Approved by the Board, Oct. 24, 2011) 
The honorary title of Buffalo Grove Park District Board Member Emeritus is bestowed upon past 
commissioners due to their distinct leadership, vision and contributions while serving on the Park District 
Board of Commissioners for at least ten (10) years.  This is an honorary position and does not include 
any voting privileges or Board related responsibilities.  Commissioners who have served between ten 
(10) and twenty (20) years may be given benefits for the same amount of years that they have served.  
Commissioners who have served twenty (20) years or more may be given lifetime benefits from the 
Buffalo Grove Park District.  Benefits are only available to the Board Member Emeritus plus one and 
children under the age of 26 who are living at home.  These benefits include: 
 

 Fitness Center Membership 
 Pool Membership 
 Golf Dome Driving Range 
 Recreation programs on the same basis as available to full time staff 

 
A Board Member Emeritus designation is not an automatic action brought to fruition by the retirement 
of a sitting board member.  This is an honor bestowed upon a past commissioner in recognition of 
his/her contributions to the community and to the Park District.  To receive this honor, this action must 
be voted affirmatively by a majority vote of the members of the Park District Board then holding office. 
 
In addition, the past commissioner:  
 

 Must have served on the Board with distinction and honor resulting in benefits to the 
community. 

 Be willing to be called upon from time to time to serve and/or represent the Park District if 
necessary and appropriate. 

 Be willing to have his/her name acknowledged in literature and marketing materials for the 
Park District when appropriate. 

 



11 
 

 
This honor and the associated privileges may be revoked by majority vote of the members of the Park 
District Board then holding office.  Prior to such revocation, the Board Member Emeritus shall be given 
the right to appear before the board. 
 
2.15 Park, Facility, and Amenity Naming Policy (Updated and Approved by Board Action:  June 20, 

2022) See ADDENDUM C. 
 

 

Section 3 - Use of Park District Programs, Facilities and Equipment 
 

3.1 Pool Passes and Programs 
Board members may, upon request, be given swimming passes at no charge.  Swimming Pool passes 
issued to board members will be limited to the board member and his/her immediate family members 
(spouse, civil union partner and dependent children living at home).  All eligible board members and 
family members must meet any requirements and restrictions for facility usage including regular hours of 
operation, age limitations and waivers. 
 

Board members and their immediate family members (spouse, civil union partner and dependent 
children living at home) are also eligible to register for Park District pool programs and events at no 
charge.  This benefit excludes contractual programs, private swim instruction, and trips offered through 
the pool. 
 
3.2 Golf Dome 
Board members and their immediate family members (spouse, civil union partner and dependent 
children living at home) may, upon request, be granted a membership, providing use of the driving 
range at no charge.  All eligible board members and family members must meet any requirements and 
restrictions for facility usage including regular hours of operation, age limitations and waivers.  
 

Board members and immediate family members (spouse, civil union partner and dependent children 
living at home) are also eligible to register for Park District Golf Center group instruction programs and 
events at no charge.  This benefit excludes contractual programs, contractual services, private lessons, 
and trips offered through the Golf Dome. 
 
3.3 Golf Dome Discounts 
Board members will be allowed to purchase merchandise from the Golf Dome at a 10% discount plus 
tax. 
 
3.4 Fitness Center Membership and Services 
Board members and immediate family members (spouse, civil union partner and dependent children 
living at home) may, upon request, be given a Fitness Center membership at no charge.   
 
Fitness Center membership allows access to many programs at no charge to the member.  However, 
Board members will be charged the “per diem” rate for any contractual or specialized Fitness Center 
program or service.  In some cases the per service/program fee may be discounted for Board 
members.  This includes and is not limited to: 

1. Personal Training Services 



12 
 

2. Private Swim Lessons 
3. Consulting Services (Diet, weight loss, smoking cessation, etc.) 
4. Specialized instruction programs (Tai Chi, Pilates, other) 

 
3.5 Recreation Programs/Group Lessons 
Board members and immediate family members (spouse, civil union partner and dependent children 
living at home) will be allowed to enroll in recreation programs or group lessons at a reduced rate or 
no charge subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Board members or immediate family members are not eligible to register for any resident lottery 
for recreation programs without complying with all requirements, regulations, rules and fees. 
 

2. The Board member or immediate family member pays the Park District for any out-of-pocket 
expense in connection with attendance in the program or lesson including costumes, uniforms, 
props, personal equipment of any type, ticket prices or entry fees. 
 

3. Board members will be charged the “per diem” rate for any specialized or contractual 
program or service.  In some cases the per service/program fee may be discounted for Board 
members.  This includes and is not limited to: 
 

a. Personal Training Services 
b. Private Swim Lessons 
c. Consulting Services (Diet, weight loss, etc.) 
d. Private or semi-private lessons for voice, piano, guitar, language, etc. 

 
3.6 Fitness Center Pro Shop Discounts 
Board members will be allowed to purchase merchandise from the Fitness Center at a 10% discount 
plus tax. 
 
3.7 Use of Park District Property & Equipment 
No elected official may use Park District property for personal use without proper authorization. No 
park district property may be released for personal use without the prior written approval of the 
Executive Director. The Executive Director can only approve personal use of Park District vehicles. 
 
For the purpose of this section, Park District property is defined as buildings, vehicles, facilities, 
grounds, tools, implements, building materials, electronic equipment, recreation and rental equipment 
and all other property owned, leased or in the possession of the Park District.  Because safety and 
liability is of chief concern, it is expected that Park District property that is assigned, or authorized or 
permitted to be used will be operated in a fashion consistent with the Park District's established safety 
rules and regulations.  Instructions on safe and proper use will be provided upon request. In addition, 
the use of some Park District property may require permits, waivers and releases.  The Board member 
will be responsible for the full cost of repair or replacement of Park District property, in the sole 
discretion of the Park District that is damaged or lost while it is in the Board member's care and 
custody. Loss, damages or theft of Park District property should be reported at once.  
 
Upon termination of the Board member’s status as Commissioner, the Board member must return all 
Park District property, equipment, keys, computers, and documents in his/her possession or control. 



13 
 

 
3.8 Procedures 
Commissioners should contact the Executive Director regarding the use of Park District 
programs, facilities and equipment. 

 
All complimentary passes and discounts given to a Board Member or immediate family in accordance 
with this section shall expire immediately upon termination of office with the Park District.  All such 
complimentary passes and discounts cannot be transferred or given to persons other than the Board 
Member or member of immediate family as defined in this section.  
 
3.9 Facility Rentals 
Board members will be allowed to rent specific Park District facilities at no charge beyond any direct 
cost (i.e. custodian/building attendant needing to be present).  If a rental is desired, the Commissioner 
will contact the Executive Director with his or her request.  Commissioners may only reserve a facility 
within 30 days prior to the rental date request.  Paying customers must be given the opportunity to rent 
the facility before commissioners are eligible.  Commissioners and/or their immediate family member 
(civil union partner, spouse, dependent children living at home) must be hosting and present at rentals. 
Commissioners may not rent a facility at no charge for extended family members, friends, or 
organizations they are a part of.  Commissioners are allowed to rent a room at a facility at no charge 
once per calendar year at the following facilities: Spray ‘N Play, Community Arts Center Theater, and 
Community Arts Center Multi-Purpose Room.  Rental discounts are for personal rentals only and cannot 
be used for revenue generating events. All Park District rules must be followed. 
 
3.10 Complimentary Tickets to Community Arts Center Performances 
Board members are entitled to four complimentary tickets to all performance of a production at the 
Community Arts Center.  Commissioners should contact either the Executive Director or the Executive 
Assistant to secure the tickets. 
 

 
Section 4 - Ethics and Conduct 
 
4.1 Ethics Act 
Commissioners must file a Statement of Economic Interest, pursuant to the Illinois Government Ethics 
Act, with the County Clerk of Lake or Cook County. (5 ILCS 420/1-101, et. seq.)  
 
4.2 Legal Authority 
The Board, as a whole, is the legal corporate authority of the District.  As an individual, a Board 
member has no legal authority to determine policy, give directions to District personnel, or act or speak 
for the Board unless specifically authorized to do so by official Board action.  
 
4.3 Representation 
Board members represent all of the residents of the District and should avoid representing special 
interest groups.  Board members should also avoid making public promises or statements regarding 
their votes or position on an issue prior to an official meeting.  
 
 



14 
 

4.4 Board Decisions 
Board members should make non-partisan decisions regarding District policies and operations based 
upon reports, facts, and study and not upon personal interest or prejudice.  
 
4.5 Board Unity 
Board members should accept and endorse majority decisions of the Board and align themselves with 
Board policies, goals and objectives. 
 
4.6 Relationship to the Executive Director/Designation of Authority 
Board members shall honor and respect the delegation of authority and responsibility to the Executive 
Director.  Board members shall work directly with the Executive Director rather than staff.  Day to day 
operations and management of the District, including but not limited to, the management of all 
personnel and approval of department and program procedures manuals are the responsibility of the 
Executive Director.  Any policy that may be included or referred to within a department or program 
procedures manual must be adopted and approved by the Board of Commissioners as described in 
Section 5.5 of this Board Policy Manual.   
 
Requests for information concerning District operations, procedures and programs shall be directed to 
the Executive Director.  Suggestions for new policies shall be referred to the Executive Director for 
study, appraisal and final recommendation.  Complaints shall be turned over to the Executive Director 
for investigation and disposition for his recommendation as to disposition by the Board.  Board 
members shall support approved actions of the administration.   
 
4.7 Indemnification 
Board members shall be indemnified against claims and actions and shall be insured against any 
liability asserted against them because of their position as members of the Board. 
 
4.8 Non-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy (Approved by the Board of Commissioners – June 
2019).  See ADDENDUM D. 

 

Section 5 - Primary Functions of the Board 
 
Although the Board of Park District Commissioners is empowered to make all decisions affecting the 
operations of the District, it shall normally exercise its power by establishing policy and reviewing the 
implementation of policy by its officers and employees.  In addition, the Board shall perform the 
following specific functions:  
 
5.1 Tax Levy 
Provide for the levy of taxes pursuant to the authority granted by State Statute.  Such levies shall 
provide for the generation of sufficient revenue to pay the cost of the District’s operation.  
 
5.2 Use of Funds 
Decide upon the use of funds generated by revenue-producing facilities after operational and 
maintenance costs are paid.  
 
5.3 Make Adjustments 
Enact periodic adjustments in the operational policies of said revenue facilities.  



15 
 

 
5.4 Hiring/Appointment and Annual Review of the Executive Director 
It is the responsibility of the Board of Commissioners to hire and appoint a non-elected Executive 
Director as its Chief Administrative Officer.   
 
The process for hiring a new Executive Director will be as follows: 
 

1. After the current Executive Director has made it known of their departure date to the Board, the 
Board will review the job description, which includes a job summary, essential functions and 
job requirements. 

2. The Board, at its discretion, may ask the current Executive Director if there are any current staff 
that both meet the job requirements and are interested in being considered for the position. 

3. If there are current employees that meet the requirements and are interested, the Board may 
ask the current Executive Director if he/she would recommend any of those current employees. 

4. The Board will then decide if they wish to interview any of the current employees that meet the 
requirements. 

5. The Board will also decide if they want to run a public search, which can run concurrently with 
internal interviews. 

6. An Employment Contract will be negotiated, approved and signed by the Board and the new 
Executive Director. 

 

The Board of Commissioners will annually appoint the Executive Director.  This appointment 
will be done at the Annual Meeting or as soon thereafter as possible.  This appointment 
should reflect the responsibility the Board has to assure the professional operation and 
stewardship of this valuable community resource.  Evidence of this appointment will be shown 
in the Board Meeting Minutes. 
 
It is the responsibility of the Board of Commissioners to annually review the performance of the 
Executive Director.  This review shall take place at the end of the fiscal year, prior to the start 
of the next fiscal year. 
 
5.5 Policies 

1. Adopt and periodically review a set of rules and regulations affecting all personnel in a 
document known as the Personnel Policy Manual of the Buffalo Grove Park District. 
 

2. To study, develop and adopt policies that will satisfy the park and recreational needs of the 
community and to see that such policies are effectively administered.  

 
5.6 Evaluation, Goals and Objectives 
To appraise and evaluate the District's recreation programs, the physical conditions of the buildings 
and grounds, the efficiency of the personnel, and to establish goals and objectives for recreational 
programs, land development, capital expenditures, and operations.  
 
5.7 Monitor Operations 
Monitor the operational procedures of the District and make additions or alterations to improve 
procedures at regular Board meetings.  The individual Board members shall keep themselves informed 



16 
 

of the activities and functions of the district by observation, comments from its citizenry, continuing 
education, and reports presented by the staff of the District.  The Board of Park District Commissioners 
shall act decisively in the best interest of the District as a whole.  
 
5.8 Philosophy 
Establish the operational philosophy of recreation programming for the district and set fees and 
charges to be approved at a regular Board meeting.  
 
5.9 Development 
Develop a well-rounded and broadly-based park system that recognizes the diverse needs and 
interests of the community it serves.  

 
Section 6 - Officers of the Board 

 
The officers of the Board of Park District Commissioners shall be President, Vice President, Secretary, 
and Treasurer and other officers as may be chosen by the Board. (70 ILCS 1205/4-8) 
 

1. The officers of the Board of Park District Commissioners shall be chosen at the May Annual 
Meeting by the Board or as soon thereafter as possible.  Each officer shall hold office until the 
next annual meeting or until his successor is duly chosen and has qualified, or until his death, 
or until he shall resign as such officer (or in the case of the President, Vice President, and 
Treasurer as a member of the Board), or until he shall have been removed in the manner 
provided in the "Park District Code".  Vacancies created in any office by the removal of an 
officer or the creation of a new office may be filled by the Board at any of its meetings.  In the 
case of temporary absence or the temporary inability of an officer to act as such, the Board 
may fill the office temporarily.  
 

2. Before entering upon their respective duties, all officers may be required to be bonded, and 
with such conditions and security as may be determined by the Board. 

 
6.1 President 
The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board, and shall call special meetings thereof on his 
own motion or on request of two or more of the members, and in the case of a special meeting shall 
cause notice to be given to all members as provided.  He shall have the right to vote upon all 
questions coming before the Board and shall be a member thereof.  The President shall be the 
executive officer of the Board.  He shall sign all documents authorized by the Board in its name and 
on its behalf and shall see that all ordinances of the Board are enforced.  He shall also perform such 
other duties of the office according to State Statutes and the direction and approval of the Board.  
 
6.2 Vice President 
The Vice President, in the absence of the President, or in the event of his refusal or inability to act, shall 
be vested with the powers to perform the duties of the President.  
 
6.3 Appointed Personnel 
The Board shall appoint a Secretary, Treasurer, Attorney, and an Executive Director, prescribe their 
duties and establish the term of appointment.  The Secretary and Treasurer need not be Board 



17 
 

members, in which case the Board may fix their compensation. (70 ILCS 1205/4-8)  
 

1. The Board shall appoint annually an Executive Director, and an attorney in the manner 
provided for officers herein, and may further employ such other employees, from time to time, 
as may be required or deemed desirable, defining and prescribing their respective duties and 
compensation.  Such duties and compensation shall be reviewed by the Board prior to the 
annual meeting.  The Board may also retain consultants and other independent contractors, 
from time to time, as may be required or deemed desirable, defining and prescribing their 
respective duties, services and compensation.  

 
2. Any officer or employee chosen or employed by the Board may be removed by the Board 

whenever in its judgment the best interests of the government of the District would be served 
thereby.   
 

3. Secretary 
The Secretary shall have the custody of the Corporate Seal and of all books and records 
pertaining to the Secretary's Office; shall attest and affix the Corporate Seal to all instruments 
requiring such action when authorized by ordinance or vote of the Board; and shall cause all 
ordinances, resolutions and other actions of the Board requiring filing and /or publication, to 
be duly published.  The Secretary shall give notice of and attend all meetings of the Board and 
keep full and true record of its proceedings.  The Secretary shall have the power to administer 
oaths and affirmations.  The Secretary shall perform all duties pursuant to state law and accept 
all other duties prescribed by the Board.  The Secretary need not be a member of the Board, 
and may be a paid employee, and shall act under the general supervision of the President and 
Board.  
 

4. Treasurer 
The Treasurer shall be appointed by the Board President and shall review all financial 
statements and detailed information as prepared by the Executive Director and Director of 
Business Services and Human Resources.  The appointed Treasurer is a member of the Board 
of Park District Commissioners and is the legal signatory on bonds and other legal documents 
as approved by the Board of Commissioners  The Board may appoint the Director of Business 
Services and Human Resources as an Assistant Treasurer. 
 

5. Executive Director 
The Executive Director shall at all times be subject to and act in accordance with the policies 
and directions of the Board.  He is the Chief Administrative Official of the District and shall be 
responsible for the administration of the District and its programs; the maintenance, construction 
and repair of the park system; and the employment of the Director of Recreation and Facilities, 
Director of Parks and Planning, Risk Manager, Director of Business Services and Human 
Resources; and such other employees as are required by same.  The Executive Director shall 
recommend to the Board such rules, regulations, and operating policy for the District as is 
deemed necessary and appropriate for the proper operation and use of the park system by the 
public, and the management and programming thereof, not inconsistent with applicable laws 
and ordinances. If these rules, regulations, and statements of operating policy are approved 
and adopted by the Board, then the Executive Director shall promulgate and enforce them. The 
Executive Director may delegate or issue permits and grant permission in accordance with 



18 
 

applicable ordinances, policies, rules, and regulations of the District.  He shall attend all 
meetings of the Board and report on his actions and the operation and activities of the District, 
since the previous Board meeting.  The Executive Director shall be an unofficial member of all 
Park Board committees. The Executive Director should:  

 
 

a. Fully and constantly keep the Board members informed of the important aspects of the 
day-to day operation of the District in a straightforward manner.  
 

b. Prepare all information which is necessary for the Board to become fully informed.  The 
Executive Director should set forth a clear statement of the situation or problem, provide 
unbiased information on various alternatives and the financial impact of same, if 
necessary.  This information should be accompanied by a recommendation.  He/she 
should be prepared to justify the recommendation and discuss the rational attendant to 
it.  
 

c. Respect the judgment and ideas of each Board member realizing that the Board and 
its Commissioners are the democratic representatives of the community.  
 

d. Enter into the day-to day operations of the District with the spirit that administrative 
decision-making must be exercised within the policies that have been agreed by the 
Board.  The Board should recognize that countless situations will arise which are not 
explicitly covered by adopted policies and which, therefore, require an administrative 
decision.  
 

6. Attorney 
The attorney shall advise the Board concerning all legal matters and shall be responsible for 
the prosecution and defense of all litigation in which the District is interested.  The attorney 
shall draft all ordinances, resolutions and other instruments as may be required by the Board.  
 

 
6.4 Additional Duties of Appointed Officers 
In addition to the duties herein above specified, each officer shall perform other duties as may be 
required of him by the Board as authorized by law.  
 

 
Section 7 - Park Board Liaison Positions and Ad Hoc Committees 
 
7.1 Board Liaison Positions  
At the annual meeting at which the president of the Board is selected, or the first regular meeting 
thereafter, the President, with Board approval, shall establish the Liaison Positions of the Board and 
charge them with their assignments for the next fiscal year.  The Liaison Positions will sit until the next 
election of the Board President. 
 
Board Liaisons will be appointed by the Board President at the Annual Meeting.  Board Liaisons are 
expected to attend occasional meetings of the groups they represent and report to the Board on 



19 
 

matters of interest when appropriate.   
 
The established liaison shall lead discussion of agenda items that fall under their specialty and advise 
the Board on matters of policy concerning their area of responsibility. 
 
The Liaison positions shall include, but are not limited to: 

 
1. Finance 
2. Personnel 
3. Policy and Legislation 
4. Recreation  
5. Public Relations  
6. Park Development 
7. Ethics Advisor 
8. IAPD Key Contact 
9. Village Board and Planning & Zoning Commission 
10. Friends of the Parks Foundation  
11. Environmental Action Team (EAT) 
12. BG Days  

 
7.2 Ad Hoc Committees 
Ad Hoc committees may be established by the President at any time.  The President shall appoint 
Commissioners, and/or other individuals to these committees and designate a chairperson.  Such 
committees shall sit until the business of the committee is complete and its report accepted by the 
Board.  Once the task is completed, the committee disbands.   
 
Since an Ad Hoc committee’s purpose is to discuss a particular business item, all ad hoc committee 
meetings are subject to the Open Meetings Act.  
 
All five Board members are recommended for any ad hoc committee so that two members can still talk 
without creating a “meeting” subject to OMA.  
 
 

Section 8 - Meetings 
 
8.1 Annual Meeting 
The Annual Meeting of the Board shall be held the fourth Monday each May, if not a legal holiday.  If 
the day of the Annual Meeting falls on a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held when designated by 
the Board.  The Workshop Meeting will begin at 6 pm and the Board Meeting will begin immediately 
thereafter.  This shall be the organizational meeting of the Board where new Commissioners are 
generally inaugurated.  The President and Vice President shall be elected; the Secretary, Treasurer, 
Attorney and Executive Director shall be appointed; and the standing committees of the Board shall be 
established.  Other business may be transacted at this meeting.   
 
8.2 Regular Meetings 
Regular meetings of the Board shall be held on the second and fourth Monday of each month at  
6 p.m.  Board Workshops are scheduled the second Monday of each month.  These meetings begin 



20 
 

at 6:00 pm and are held at the Alcott Center.  On the fourth Monday of the Month, the Board holds a 
Workshop immediately followed by a Board Meeting.  These meetings begins at 6:00 pm and are 
also held at the Alcott Center.  The Board may decide to have only one meeting in a certain month.  If 
the day of any meeting falls on an observed holiday, the meeting shall be held when designated by 
the Board.  In December of each year, the Board shall establish a calendar of workshops and 
meetings for the coming year.  
 
Agendas for these meetings are drafted by the Executive Director and are made available 
electronically to Board Members the Thursday before the meeting.  Along with the Agendas are staff 
reports with recommendations, financial reports, and correspondence for consideration by the Board 
of Commissioners.  Included in the Board Meeting Packet is a Summary of Board Actions Items, usually 
written in the format required for passage by the entire Board. 
 
In addition, Board Agendas will be made available to the general public.  Board Agendas will be 
posted in the Alcott Center, and will also be posted on the Buffalo Grove Park District Web Site and 
sent to the local newspapers. 
 
8.3 Special Meetings 
Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President whenever he shall deem it necessary or 
shall be called by the President at the request of any two Commissioners.  Notice of any such special 
meetings shall be given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 (5 ILCS 120/1, et seq.) 
 
8.4 Place of Meetings 
The meetings of the Board shall be held at the Alcott Community Center, 530 Bernard Drive, Buffalo 
Grove, Illinois, unless otherwise stipulated by the Board.  
 
8.5 Open Meetings 
All regular, annual, special and committee meetings of the Board shall be held in accordance with the 
Open Meetings Act. (5 ILCS 120/1, et seq.) 
 

8.6 Closed Meetings 
The Board may hold a meeting closed to the public or close a portion of a meeting to the public for 
reasons which include but are not limited to discussion of personnel, land acquisition, pending 
litigation, or for “collective negotiation” in the event a labor union is formed.  Any such closed meeting 
shall be held in accordance with the Open Meetings Act. (5 ILCS 120/1, et seq.)  No final action on 
any Board matter may be taken at a closed meeting.  
 

8.7 Schedule and Notice 
The schedule and public notice of all regular, rescheduled, or reconvened Board meetings for each 
calendar year shall be made available in accordance with the Open Meetings Act. (5 ILCS 120/1, 
et seq.)  

 
8.8 Quorum 
A majority of the duly elected and qualified Commissioners shall constitute a quorum for the transaction 
of business; provided, however, that if no quorum is present, the Commissioners attending may 
adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice until a quorum is obtained.  



21 
 

 
8.9 Order of Business  
The order of business at all regular meetings of the Board shall include the following agenda items:  
Roll Call, Pledge of Allegiance, Approval of Agenda, Introduction of Guests, Topics from the Floor, 
Correspondence - written and oral, Committee Action Items, Director's Report and Operational 
Reports, Attorney's Report, Old Business, New Business, and Adjournment.  Items presented under 
New Business shall not be formally acted upon.  
 
8.10 Petitions Submitted By Residents 
All petitions which are directed toward the District's areas of responsibility shall be brought to the 
attention of the Board at the earliest opportunity.   
 
The petition shall be placed on the agenda of a regular or special meeting and be discussed by the 
Board.  The individuals(s) responsible for the petition shall be notified at the earliest possible date that 
the Board has received the petition, as well as any action which has been decided upon.  
 
8.11 Discussion 
The President shall limit discussion to matters pending before the Board and may suggest time 
limitations on discussion.  
 
8.12 Citizen Participation 
Citizens shall be invited to participate in Board meetings during the "Topics from the Floor" portion of 
the agenda and at other times during the meeting when recognized by the President of the Board.  
 
8.13 Ordinances, Resolutions and Motions 
All ordinances, resolutions, and other proceedings of the Board shall be in writing and kept in a 
regular book of records, open to the public for inspection as prescribed by law.  Illinois law provides 
that the Board shall have the power "to pass all necessary ordinances, rules and regulations for the 
proper management and control of the business of the Board and the District and to establish by 
ordinance all needful rules and regulations for the government and protection of parks, boulevards and 
driveways and other property under its jurisdiction and to effect the objects for which such districts are 
formed." (70 ILCS 1205/8-1 (d) 

 
8.14 Voting 
A roll call vote shall be taken for the passage of ordinances, resolutions and propositions that create 
any liability or for the expenditure or appropriation of money, and in all cases at the request of any 
Commissioner, and shall be entered upon the minutes of the proceedings.  The act of a majority of 
Commissioners present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, except 
as otherwise required by the ordinances of the District, by state law, or unless the act of a greater 
number of Commissioners is required by any section of this policy.  
 
8.15 Rules of Order 
The proceedings of the Board shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order in all questions or 
procedure not otherwise provided for herein.  
 
 
 



22 
 

8.16 Official Minutes 
The Secretary of the District shall keep written minutes of all Board meetings as specified by the Open 
Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1).  All action taken by the Board at all regular and special meetings of 
the Board shall be done in open meeting and recorded by the Secretary.  The Secretary is charged 
with keeping an accurate and true record of all motions, resolutions and ordinances in an official 
minute book.  All minutes will be considered "unofficial" until adopted by the Board at a subsequent 
meeting.  
 
The official minutes book of the Buffalo Grove Park District shall be open for public inspection as 
specified by the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1) and the Freedom of Information Act. (5 ILCS 
140/1) 
 
The Secretary of the Board is responsible for reviewing executive session minutes every six months. The 
Secretary will also request review of these minutes by the Park District Attorney for his opinion on which 
minutes should be made available for public inspection.  The Board will then take action to release 
minutes for public viewing or for the minutes to remain closed for public viewing.  The recording and 
disposal of closed session minutes shall be handled in accordance with the Open Meetings Act. (5 
ILCS 120/1, et seq.)   
 
8.17 Remote Attendance Policy 
It is the policy of the Buffalo Grove Park District to allow members of the Board of Commissioners to 
attend and participate in open and closed meetings of the Board by video or audio means as 
authorized by Section 7 of the Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/7, subject to the rules and limitations 
applicable to such attendance and participation as set forth in this Policy.   
 
No Commissioner may attend any portion of a meeting by remote means unless: 

A.  A quorum of the Board is physically present at the meeting; and  

B.   He or she provides email or written notice to the Secretary specifying the reason for requesting 
attendance by remote means at least three hours prior to the meeting at the District’s principal 
office; and 

C.  The remote means being utilized is fully functional so as to allow all Commissioners and any 
member of the audience to hear all communications taking place at the meeting. 

 
No Commissioner may attend a meeting by remote means for any reason other than: 
 
     A. Personal illness or disability 
     B. Employment purposes or the business of the Park District  
     C. A family or other emergency 
     D.  There is a state-issued disaster declaration related to public health concerns  
     E.  The President of the Board of Commissioners determines that an in-person meeting it is not 

practical or prudent because of public health concerns 
 
However, no Park Commissioner may attend a Board meeting by remote means more than six times in 
any calendar year except in the case of a state-issued disaster declaration related to public health 
concerns. 
 



23 
 

When any Commissioner attends any portion of a meeting by remote means as permitted by this 
Policy: 

A.  The minutes of the meeting shall so reflect that such Commissioner attended the meeting by 
remote means; and 

B.  Every Commissioner shall be identified during all Board discussions so that each Commissioner 
is aware of which Commissioner is speaking at all times. 
 

A Commissioner attending a meeting by remote means shall: 

A.  Be permitted to fully participate in the meeting as if he or she were physically present, subject 
to the Board’s guidelines and procedures for conducting the meeting; and 

B.  Advise the Secretary and Board if he or she leaves or returns from the meeting; and 

C.  Advise the Secretary and Board of all other persons in the same room as such Commissioner 
attending by remote means and whether and to what extent such other persons are able to 
hear the discussions at the meeting. 

 
If any provision of this Policy conflicts with any provision of the Open Meetings Act, the provisions of 
the Act shall prevail. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX A 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-6-1 
 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE LENGTH  
OF TIME A PARK COMMISSIONER MAY FAIL TO ATTEND  
MEETINGS OF THE PARK BOARD IN ORDER FOR SUCH  

COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE TO BE DECLARED VACANT AND  
PROVIDING A PROCEDURE FOR DECLARING SUCH A VACANCY 

 
WHEREAS, the Buffalo Grove Park District (“District”) is an Illinois park district organized and 

operating under and pursuant to the provisions of the Park District Code (70 ILCS 1205/1-1 et seq.) 
(“Code”) and all laws amendatory thereof and supplementary thereto; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District under the Code is governed by five (5) individuals elected or appointed 
from time to time and comprising the Board of Park Commissioners (“Board”) of the District; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board is empowered to pass all necessary ordinances, rules and regulations for 
the proper management and conduct of the business of the Board and District and to manage and 
control the officers and property of the District; and  
 
 WHEREAS, except as otherwise specifically provided by law, the Board acts from time to time 
on behalf of the District through the majority vote of the Board members at public meetings where at least 
a quorum of said members is present; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the members of the Board are elected to serve and represent the public, and an 
integral part of such service is attendance at the regular monthly meetings of the Board and such special 
or other meetings of the Board as may be called to order from time to time; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the failure of a park commissioner to attend the meetings of the Board deprives the 
electorate of the District of its full representation; and  
 

WHEREAS, Article 2-25 of the Code provides various reasons for a vacancy; such as, whenever 
any member of the Board (i) dies, (ii) resigns, (iii) becomes under legal disability, (iv) ceases to be a 
legal voter in the district, (v) is convicted of any infamous crime, (vi) refuses or neglects to take his or her 
oath of office, (vii) neglects to perform the duties of his or her office or attend meetings of the board for 
the length of time as the board fixes by ordinance, or  (viii) for any other reason specified by law, that 
office may be declared vacant.   

 
WHEREAS, the Board wants to adopt an ordinance which provides that whenever any member 

of the Board  neglects to attend the meetings of the Board for a  length of time  such member’s office 
may be declared vacant; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of the District has not previously adopted any ordinance fixing the length 
of time a member of the Board may fail to attend meetings of the Board for that member’s office to be 
declared vacant; and  



 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to (1) fix the length of time that a member thereof may fail to attend 
meetings in order for such member’s office to be declared vacant and (2) to provide a procedure pursuant 
to which a declaration of vacancy as aforesaid may be rendered. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED by the Board of Park Commissioners of the 
Buffalo Grove Park District, Lake and Cook Counties, Illinois as follows: 

 
SECTION 1.  INCORPORATION OF PREAMBLE.  The preamble to this Ordinance is hereby 

incorporated by reference in this Ordinance, as though set forth herein in full. 
 
 SECTION 2.  REPEATED FAILURE TO ATTEND BOARD MEETINGS.  The failure of any member 
of the Board to be present either: (i) in person or (ii) by telephone in accordance with Board policy, at 
four (4) or more consecutive duly called regular meetings of the Board, or at six (6) or more duly called 
regular meetings of the Board within any consecutive twelve (12) month or shorter period after the 
effective date of this Ordinance shall be cause for the President of the Board or the Board to convene a 
meeting closed to the public or a closed session of an open meeting for the purpose of conducting a 
hearing to consider whether the office of Park Commissioner of such member shall be declared vacant, 
pursuant to 70 ILCS 2-25 and 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(3).  For purposes hereof a member of the Board shall 
be deemed to be present at a meeting of the Board only if such member is in attendance at such meeting 
in person or, if permitted by Board policy, by telephone conference, from the time such meeting is called 
to order until the final adjournment of the meeting. 
 
 SECTION 3.   HEARING.  

(a) Prior to taking any final action on declaring a member’s seat on the Board to be vacant, 
a procedural due process hearing (“Hearing”) before the Board shall be held to 
determine whether the Park Commissioner failed to be present in person or, if and as 
permitted by Board policy, by telephone, at four (4) or more consecutive duly called 
regular meetings of the Board, or at six (6) or more duly called regular meetings of the 
Board in any consecutive twelve (12) month or shorter period.  The Park Commissioner 
whose office is in question shall be given at least fourteen (14) days prior written notice 
of the Hearing (“Hearing Notice”) by the President of the Board.  

 
(b)  The Hearing Notice shall include notice of the possible declaration of vacancy of the 

member’s seat on the Board, the date, time and location of the meeting and a listing of 
the dates of the meetings which the member has allegedly failed to attend.   

(c) The member whose seat may be declared vacant shall have the right to be present at 
and to participate in the Hearing.  The member shall also have the right to be 
represented by counsel prior to, during, and after the Hearing.  

 
(d) During the Hearing the Board shall provide the member whose seat may be declared 

vacant, with certified copies of the minutes of the Board meetings which the member is 
alleged to have missed, showing those members in attendance at such meetings and 



those absent and whether the members were physically present or present by means of 
telephone conference and such certified copies shall create a rebuttable presumption 
that the member failed to attend each meeting for which the minutes reflect his absence.  

 
(e) At the Hearing the member whose seat on the Board may be declared vacant may 

present oral and/or written evidence and/or present any witnesses to establish such 
member’s presence at any meeting where the aforesaid minutes reflect such member’s 
absence.  

 
(f) The President of the Board shall preside at the Hearing and may be assisted by legal 

counsel for the District. 

 
(g) No final action shall be taken at the Hearing. 

 
SECTION 4.  DECLARATION OF VACANCY.  At any time after the adjournment of the Hearing, 

the Board shall, at a meeting open to the public, make a finding of fact regarding the number of meetings 
missed by the member and if such finding indicates that at least four (4) consecutive duly scheduled 
regular meetings of the Board were missed by such member, or that such member missed six (6) or more 
duly scheduled regular meetings during any twelve (12) month or shorter period, the Board may declare 
the office of Park Commissioner of said member vacant by the affirmative roll call vote of not less than 
three (3) members of the Board, whereupon said office shall be vacant and may be filled by the 
remaining members of the Board in accordance with the provisions of Section 2-25 of the Code (70 
ILCS 1205/2-25). 
 
 SECTION 5.  INVALIDITY.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of 
this ordinance or any part thereof is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or invalid or ineffective by 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the 
remaining portions of this Ordinance, or any part thereof. 

   
SECTION 6.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall be effective upon its passage.  

PASSED, this 25th Day of June, 2018. 

 
 



APPENDIX B 
 

EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY 
 

Section 1:  Definitions 
 “Entertainment” includes, but is not limited to, shows, amusements, theaters, circuses, sporting 

events, or any other place of public or private entertainment or amusement, unless ancillary to 
the purpose of the program or event. 

 “Qualifying Travel Expenses” means ordinary and necessary expenses incurred by an 
employee or Board Member for travel, lodging, meal, and/or incidental expenses for travel 
away from home in connection with attendance at workshops, seminars and conferences, and 
participation in professional organizations. 

 
Section 2:  Maximum allowable reimbursement for travel expenses is limited to 

  The standard IRS mileage allowance.   
 Surface and air transportation are reimbursed or advanced at the face value of the 

ticket/receipt and are limited to the amount of the lowest airfare coach ticket available, plus 
the cost of one checked bag, if so charged by the airline.   

 Transportation to and from the airport (including parking) will be reimbursed at no more than 
the cost of an equivalent taxi ride.   

 Meals and incidentals will be reimbursed at their actual cost and must be accompanied by 
receipt or supporting documentation, but the maximum allowable reimbursement is limited to 
the current U.S. General Services Administration per diem rate for the location at the time of 
travel.  Please refer to the GSA website:  www.gsa.gov/perdiem for per diem rates 
according to the geographic areas involved in travel. 

 In the event of an emergency or other extraordinary circumstances, expenses that exceed the 
maximum allowable travel, meal, or lodging expenses may be considered for approval by 
the Board of Commissioners. 

 
Section 3:  Requirements 

 With the exception of mileage, the park district will not honor requests over $25.00 per 
incident unless a receipt is presented. 

 Costs for conference and meeting registration, lodging, meals, and transportation must be 

budgeted for and approved by the department head or director for staff travel, and by Board 

roll call vote for any Board Commissioner travel in advance. 

 
 

http://www.gsa.gov/perdiem


APPENDIX C 
 

PARK, FACILITY, AND AMENITY NAMING POLICY 
 

The following sets forth the Board’s policy in naming and renaming its parks, facilities, and amenities:  
 
For purposes of this policy the following definitions will be used: 
 
Park:  An area of land, usually in a largely natural state, for the enjoyment of the public, having 
enhancements for rest and recreation. Examples: Rylko Park, Green Lake Park, Cherbourg Park 
 
Facility:  A structure or building designed, built, installed, etc., to serve a specific function. Examples:  
Community Arts Center, Alcott Center, Emmerich Building, Willow Stream Pool 
 
Amenity:  A feature, component, or enhancement added to a park or facility that provides comfort, 
convenience, or pleasure.  Examples:  playgrounds, benches, program rooms, studios, concession 
stand, ball fields, picnic shelters, unique features 
 

I. Criteria for Naming Parks, Facilities, and Amenities 
 
The following criteria will be considered when naming or renaming parks, facilities or 
amenities of parks or facilities:  
 
a. Names of former park commissioners, city officials, staff, or individuals who have 

contributed substantial services in the expansion or growth of the community or who 
were closely associated with a significant community event. 
 

b. Donations to the district wherein the donor’s name or that of a third party is used.  
 

c. Presidents of the United States or significant historical events.  
 

d. Major street names surrounding the park. 
 

e. Names of areas, such as the neighborhood or subdivision where the park or facility is 
located, provided the area is not named for an individual, company or organization.  
 

f. Park features, such as topography, natural features, the purpose of the park or activities 
to be held in the park.   
 

II. Special Conditions 
 
It is the intent of the Board of Park District Commissioners to name parks, facilities  and 
amenities in a manner that will reflect the best interests of the public at all times.  To this 
end, the process of naming a park, facility, or amenity will be carefully thought out to 
bring honor to individuals or organizations for whom the park or facility is named, while at 



the same time be clearly identifiable for the community at large.  We would also seek to 
name parks, facilities, and amenities in a manner that will stand the test of time and be 
meaningful for future generations of people residing in the Buffalo Grove Park District.  
 

III. Naming of New Parks, Facilities and Amenities 
 
The following special conditions shall prevail in the naming of a new park, facility, or 
amenity:  
 
a. The selected name for a new park, facility, or amenity will require a majority vote of 

the Board of Park District Commissioners.  
 

b. A new park, facility, or amenity shall not be named for a park commissioner, staff 
member, or city official unless the person has been retired from office, or is still 
employed or serving and has met at least 25 years of service.  Careful consideration 
shall be given with regard to the naming of a park, facility, or amenity in honor or 
memory of a Commissioner or staff member and shall reflect the longevity of the 
service, as well as their contributions to the Park District, and distinction of their public 
service to the community.   
 

IV. Renaming of Parks, Facilities, or Amenities 
 
The following special conditions shall prevail in the renaming of a park facility, or 
amenity: 
 
a. No park, facility, or amenity with a “generic” name shall be renamed unless the Board 

of Park District Commissioners casts a majority vote of the Board of Park District 
Commissioners. 
 

b. If a park, facility, or amenity is named after a civic organization or person, and the 
Board of Park District Commissioners deems it necessary to rename said park, facility 
or amenity, then the Board of Park District Commissioners may rename said park, 
facility, or amenity upon a unanimous vote of the Board of Park District Commissioners.  
 

c. A park, facility, or amenity shall not be renamed for a park commissioner, staff 
member, or city official until he/she has retired from office.   
 
A park, facility, or amenity may be renamed for a park board commissioner that is still 
in office if they have met at least 25 years of service.  
 
Careful consideration shall be given with regard to the renaming of a park, facility, or 
amenity in honor or memory of a park board commissioner or staff member and shall 
reflect the longevity of the service, as well as their contributions to the Park District, and 
distinction of their public service to the community.  
 



Special Note Applicable to Sections III and IV:   
 
When naming or renaming a park, facility, or amenity for a commissioner, the Board of Park District 
Commissioners will follow the general rule that a park or facility would require at least 20 years of 
service.  Naming or renaming an amenity would require at least 12 years of service. 
 
When naming or renaming a park, facility, or amenity for a staff member, the Board of Park District 
Commissioners will follow the general rule that said staff member will have served at least 25 years at 
the Buffalo Grove Park District.  Whether a park, facility, or amenity is renamed would be at the 
discretion of the Board of Park District Commissioners with recommendation from current staff.   
 
In unique circumstances, the Board of Park District Commissioners reserves the right to not follow the 
general rules on years of service.   
 

V. Philanthropic Naming or Renaming of a Park, Facility, or Amenity  
 
Parks, facilities, or amenities may be named after individuals or groups who have made 
substantial philanthropic donations of park property or who have made substantial 
contribution toward the development of the park, facility, or amenity.  The threshold for 
considering the naming of a park, facility, or amenity will include one or more of the 
following: 
 
a. Land for the majority of the park was deeded to the Park District. 

 
b. Contribution of a recommended 50% of the capital construction cost associated with 

developing the park, facility, or amenity.  The Board of Park District Commissioners 
reserves the right to review all offers and make decisions to grant naming rights for 
donations of less than 50%. 
 

c. Contributions are designed to result in a significant and necessary direct benefit to the 
Park District.  In some situations when an amenity such as a park bench is added to an 
already existing park, it is not viewed as a necessity.  Therefore contribution will 
require 100% cost coverage, including labor and memorial plaque.  
 

d. Provision of a minimum 20-year endowment for the continued maintenance and/or 
programming of the park, facility, or amenity. 
 

Naming rights terms shall be mutually agreed upon by the prospective donor and 
approved by a majority vote of the Board of Park District Commissioners, and shall not be 
longer than the useful life of the park, facility, or amenity. 
 
The location of an added amenity will be discussed with the donor, but final decision is 
determined by the Executive Director of the Park District. 
 



In the event of vandalism, theft, or weather damage, the Park District will not be 
responsible for replacement or repair of added amenities that fall under item (c) above.  
However, all attempts will be made to access funding through the Park District’s insurance 
and other resources to restore the amenity and its signage to its original condition.  
 
The Buffalo Grove Park District and the Friends of the Parks Foundation shall work 
cooperatively to establish policy and practices in compliance with 501 (c) (3) Federal 
requirements for not-for-profit tax-deductible donations and assures donors of the integrity of 
their donation. 
 
 

The Board of Park District Commissioners reserves the right to recognize unique circumstances and take 
appropriate actions that may supersede the above stated policy, by a vote of the majority of Board of 
Park District Commissioners.  
 

 
 
 

 



 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

 
NON - DISCRIMINATION AND ANTI - HARASSMENT POLICY 

 
 
Introduction 
The Park District is committed to a work environment in which all individuals are treated with respect 
and dignity. Each individual has the right to work in a professional atmosphere that prohibits 
discriminatory practices, including harassment. Therefore, the Park District expects that all relationships 
among persons in the workplace will be business-like and free of bias, prejudice and harassment. 
 
It is the responsibility of each and every employee, intern, officer, official, park commissioner, agent, 
volunteer, and vendor of the Park District as well as anyone using the Park District's facilities, to refrain 
from sexual and other harassment. The Park District will not tolerate sexual or any other type of 
harassment of or by any of its employees, elected officials, and others.  Actions, words, jokes, or 
comments based on an individual's gender, race, color, national origin, age, religion, disability, sexual 
orientation, civil union partnership, or any other legally protected characteristic will not be tolerated. 
 
This policy should not, and may not, be used as a basis for excluding or separating individuals of a 
particular gender, sexual orientation, civil union partnership, race, color, national origin, age, religion, 
disability, or any other protected characteristic, from participating in business or work-related social 
activities or discussions in order to avoid allegations of harassment. The law and policies of the Park 
District prohibit disparate treatment on the basis of gender, sexual orientation, civil union partnership, 
race, color, national origin, age, religion, disability, or any other protected characteristic, with regard 
to terms, conditions, privileges and prerequisites of employment. The prohibition against harassment, 
discrimination and retaliation are intended to complement and further these policies, not to form the 
basis of an exception to them. 
 
Definitions of Harassment 
1. Sexual harassment may occur whenever there are unwelcome sexual advances, requests for 

sexual favors, or any other verbal, physical, or visual conduct of a sexual nature when: 

 

a. Submission to the conduct is made either implicitly or explicitly a condition of the 
individual’s employment; 

b. Submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for an employment decision 
affecting the harassed employee/intern; or 

c. The harassment has the purpose or effect of interfering with the employee/intern’s work 
performance creating an environment that is intimidating, hostile, or offensive to the 
employee/intern. 

 
Sexual harassment may include a range of subtle and not so subtle behaviors and may involve 
individuals of the same or different gender. Depending on the circumstances, these behaviors may 



include, but are not limited to: unwanted sexual advances or requests for sexual favors; sexual 
jokes and innuendo; verbal abuse of a sexual nature; commentary about an individual’s body, 
sexual prowess or sexual deficiencies; leering; catcalls or touching; insulting or obscene comments 
or gestures; display or circulation in the workplace of sexually suggestive objects or pictures 
(including through e-mail and/or text messages); and other physical, verbal or visual conduct of a 
sexual nature. 
 

2. Harassment on the basis of any other protected characteristic is also strictly prohibited. Under this 
policy, harassment is unwelcome verbal or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or 
aversion toward an individual because of his/her race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, 
age, national origin, disability or any other characteristic protected by law or that of his/her 
relatives, friends or associates, and that: (i) has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, 
hostile or offensive work environment; (ii) has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with 
an individual’s work performance; or (iii) otherwise adversely affects an individual’s employment 
opportunities.  

 

 Harassing conduct includes, but is not limited to: epithets, slurs or negative stereotyping; 
threatening, intimidating or hostile acts; denigrating jokes and display or circulation in the 
workplace of written or graphic material that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an 
individual or group (including through e-mail and/or text messages). 

  

Conduct prohibited by these policies is unacceptable in the workplace and in any work-related setting 
outside the workplace, such as during business trips, professional conferences, business meetings 
and business-related social events. 

 

Note Any employee/intern engaging in practices or conduct constituting sexual harassment, 
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation (as discussed later in this policy) of any kind shall 
be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. 

 
Retaliation Is Prohibited 
The Park District prohibits retaliation against any individual who reports discrimination, harassment, or 
retaliation, who participates in an investigation of such reports, and/or who files a charge of 
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation.  Retaliation against an individual for reporting harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation, for participating in an investigation of a claim of harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation, or for filing a charge of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation is a 
serious violation of this policy and, like harassment or discrimination itself, will be subject to 
disciplinary action. 
 

In addition to the Park District’s prohibition on retaliation, various state and federal laws prohibit 
retaliation for reports of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation.  For instance, protections against 
retaliation exist under the Illinois Human Rights Act, and, depending on the circumstances, protections 
against retaliation may exist under the Illinois Whistleblower Act and/or the State Officials and 
Employee Ethics Act. 
 



 
Reporting Procedure 
The Park District strongly urges the reporting of all incidents of discrimination, harassment or retaliation, 
regardless of the offender’s identity or position. Early reporting and intervention have proven to be the 
most effective method of resolving actual or perceived incidents of harassment or discrimination. 
Therefore, while no fixed reporting period has been established, the Park District strongly urges the 
prompt reporting of complaints or concerns so that rapid and constructive action can be taken. 
 
The availability of this reporting procedure does not preclude individuals who believe they are being 
subjected to harassing, discriminatory, or retaliatory conduct from promptly advising the offender that 
his or her behavior is unwelcome and requesting that it be discontinued.  However, nothing in this 
policy shall require individuals who believe they are being subjected to harassing, discriminatory, or 
retaliatory behavior to so advise the offender. 
 
If you experience or witness harassment or discrimination of any kind, you should deal with the 
incident(s) as directly and firmly as possible by clearly communicating your position to the offending 
person, your immediate supervisor, your department head, Human Resources Manager, Director of 
Business Services & Human Resources, and/or the Executive Director. You should also document or 
record each incident (what was said or done, by whom, the date, time and place, and any witnesses 
to the incident).  Written records such as letters, notes, memos, texts, tweets, social media postings, e-
mails, and telephone messages can strengthen documentation.  It is not necessary that the harassment 
be directed at you to make a complaint. 
 

 Direct Communication with Offender: If there is harassing, discriminatory, or retaliatory 
behavior in the workplace, you should directly and clearly express your objection to the 
offending person(s) regardless of whether the behavior is directed at you.  If you are the 
harassed employee, and if you feel comfortable doing so, you should clearly state that the 
conduct is unwelcome and the offending behavior must stop.  However, you are not 
required to directly confront the person who is the source of your report, question, or 
complaint before notifying any of those individuals listed below. Further, you are not 
required to directly confront the person who is the source of your report, question, or 
complaint if you feel uncomfortable doing so.  The initial message may be oral or written, 
but documentation of the notice should be made.  If subsequent messages are needed, they 
should be put in writing. 

 Report to Supervisory and Administrative Personnel:  At the same time direct communication 
is undertaken, or in the event you feel threatened or intimidated by the offending person, 
you should promptly report the offending behavior to your immediate supervisor, Department 
Head, Human Resources Manager, Director of Business Services & Human Resources, or 
the Executive Director.  If you feel uncomfortable doing so, or if your immediate supervisor 
is the source of the problem, condones the problem or ignores the problem, report directly 
to the Executive Director. If the Executive Director is the source of the problem, condones 
the problem, or ignores the problem, you should immediately report the incident or incidents 
in writing directly to the President of the Board of Park District Commissioners.  

 
 Report to Executive Director/President of the Board of Park District Commissioners:  An 

employee/intern may also report incidents of harassment, discrimination, or retaliation 
directly to the Executive Director.  If your complaint alleges harassment, discrimination, or 



retaliation by the Executive Director, or if the Executive Director condones the problem or 
ignores the problem, you should immediately report the incident or incidents in writing 
directly to the President of the Board of Park Commissioners. 
 

 If your complaint alleges harassment, discrimination, or retaliation by a Park Board 
Commissioner or if the Park Board Commissioner condones the problem or ignores the 
problem, you should immediately report the incident or incidents in writing directly to the 
Executive Director. 

 
 When an allegation of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation is reported, an 

investigation will be conducted within a prompt period of time and appropriate remedial 
action will be taken when an allegation is determined to be substantiated.  At no time will 
personnel involved in the alleged discrimination, harassment, or retaliation conduct the 
investigation.  Nothing in this policy precludes a report of discrimination, harassment, or 
retaliation to the Illinois Department of Human Rights, which is the State agency responsible 
for enforcing the Illinois Human Rights Act, as described in the “Conclusion” section below.  
Further, the IDHR maintains a hotline for confidential reports of sexual harassment.   
 

Harassment Allegations against Non-Employees/Third Parties 
If you make a complaint alleging harassment, discrimination, or retaliation against an agent, vendor, 
supplier, contractor, volunteer or person using Park District programs or facilities, the Executive Director 
(or his designee) will promptly investigate the incident(s) and determine the appropriate remedial action, 
if any. The Park District will make reasonable efforts to protect you from further contact with such persons. 
Please recognize, however, that the Park District has limited control over the actions of non-employees. 
 

Important 
Notice To All 
Employees 

Employees/interns who have experienced conduct they believe is contrary to this 
policy have an obligation to take advantage of this reporting procedure.  

 
Responsibility of Supervisors and Witnesses 
Any supervisor or managerial employee who becomes aware of any possible sexual or other 
harassment, discrimination and/or retaliation of or by any employee/intern should immediately 
advise the Executive Director, and the Director (or his designee) will investigate the conduct promptly 
and take prompt remedial allegation if the allegations are substantiated. 
  
All employees/interns are encouraged to report incidents of harassment, discrimination, and/or 
retaliation regardless of who the offender may be or whether or not you are the intended victim. 
 
The Investigation 
Any reported allegations of harassment, discrimination or retaliation will be investigated promptly. The 
Park District will make every reasonable effort to conduct an investigation in a responsible and 
confidential manner. However, it is impossible to guarantee absolute confidentiality, as the Park District 
must be able to fully investigate and take prompt remedial action when necessary.  The investigation 
may include individual interviews with the parties involved, and where necessary, with individuals who 
may have observed the alleged conduct or may have other knowledge relevant to the allegations.  The 
Park District reserves the right and hereby provides notice that third parties may be used to investigate 
claims of harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation.  You must cooperate in any investigation of 



workplace wrongdoing or risk disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  
 
Responsive Action 
After investigation, the Park District will determine whether a complaint of harassment, discrimination or 
retaliation has been substantiated or not based on a review of the facts and circumstances of each 
situation. Misconduct constituting a violation of this policy (such as engaging in harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation), will be dealt with appropriately. Appropriate responsive action for a 
substantiated complaint may include, by way of example only: training, referral to counseling, and/or 
disciplinary action (such as referral to the Ethics Officer, suspension of Board activities and benefits 
and/or possible removal from Board position, as the Park District believes appropriate under the 
circumstances.  
 
False and Frivolous Complaints 
Given the possibility of serious consequences for an individual accused of sexual harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation, complaints made in bad faith or otherwise false and frivolous charges are 
considered severe misconduct and may result in disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
While we hope to be able to resolve any complaints of discrimination, harassment, or retaliation within 
the Park District, we acknowledge your right to contact the Illinois Department of Human Rights (IDHR) 
at the James R. Thompson Center, 100 West Randolph Street, Suite 10-100, Chicago, Illinois 60601, 
about filing a formal complaint.  The IDHR also has a reporting hotline, which includes a method for 
the intake of anonymous phone calls regarding allegations of sexual harassment.  If the IDHR determines 
that there is sufficient evidence of harassment to proceed further, it will file a complaint with the Illinois 
Human Rights Commission (HRC), located at the same address on the fifth floor.  If the IDHR does not 
complete its investigation within 365 days, you may file a complaint directly with the HRC between the 
365th and the 395th day. 

 
 




	1 230710w Agenda
	1.2 GFOA Press Release Award FYE 4-30-22
	1.4 GFOA COA Award FYE 4-30-22
	1.6 Flag Day Correspondence
	1.8 Chatterbox Correspondence
	2 Resolution 23-7-1 Tom Hoffman 25 Years
	2.5 Resolution 23-7-2 Kyle Moody 10 years
	3 Memo on Rt 83 Bridge IGA
	3.1 IGA Park District Bridge Painting Full
	3.2 Memo on Alcohol, Drugs and Narcotics and Fire Ordinances
	3.3 1.04 Alcohol Drugs and Narcotics_Update 6.28.2023
	3.4 1.16 Fires Ordinace Updated 6.28.2023
	3.5 Memo on PDRMA Annual Report
	3.6 PDRMA Buffalo Grove Park District 2022
	3.7 PDRMA_Annual_Report_2022
	4 Parks QAB G&O's 2023-24
	5 Memo on Willow Stream Park South Parking Lot
	5.1 Bid Tab Willow Stream Parking Lot
	5.2 Scope Review Willow Stream Parking Lot
	6 Memo on Clubhouse Bus Bid 2023-24
	6.1 Clubhouse Field Trip Return Bid 23-24
	6.2 Bus Bid Specifications 23-24
	6.4 Memo on Rec Program Stats 2023
	6.6 Enrollment Stats FY Summary FY18 to Current_final_
	6.8 FY Summary FY18 to Current Charts
	7 ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF MEETINGS REPORT
	8 Memo on Prospective Board Candidate Packet
	8.2 Board Candidate Application
	8.4 Serving on a Park District Board
	8.6 Board Policy Manual FULL with Appendices
	Board Policy Manual - APPROVED APRIL 2023
	APPENDIX A - Commissioner Missing Board Meetings Ordinance
	APPENDIX B - Expense Reimbursement Policy
	APPENDIX C - Park Facility Amenity Naming Policy
	APPENDIX D - Non Disrmination and Anti Harrassment Policy

	9 Happy Tails Dog Park



